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Number of Licences and Statements o
Particulars of Business (as at 31/3/2018)

" 20,933

i EEBER

Salesperson’s Licence

17,754 74

[ VG
RERE (BA) B8 @

Estate Agent’s Licence (individual)

3,624
ﬁ WERE (A7) R

Estate Agent’s Licence (company)

6,849

LEHEHAE
Statement of particulars of business

Z4 A8 (2017185 )

Number of Examination Candidates (2017/18)

= 5,103

HWEREEREDR

Estate Agents Qualifying Examination

7,078 &

BEBERES N o
Salespersons Qualifying Examination =

v =

REFER (2017/18FE)
Number of Complaint Cases (2017/18)

425

FZH{EZ Opened

440

B 5K EZ* Completed*

* BORAFEENER  EHEBERAEBRRIIEN TLREES

BRIBEVMEZE - DAR IR AR ED AT T R AR IR R E A R TR AL MV EIER o
* Some cases completed in the year were brought forward from
previous years. The figures include prima facie cases referred to and
dealt with by the Disciplinary Committee and non-prima facie cases
disposed of by the Complaints and Enforcement Sections.

KERE (201718FE)

Number of Compliance Inspections (2017/18)

3,720
ﬁ # 2 Total

1,423

—FIERHER
At First-sale Sites*

1,625
shEEK IR H

At Estate Agency Shops -

67¢2

Online Advertisements

* BIERBRAER  ERHEE KA -
* Includes the development sites, sales offices and
vicinity areas.

WEE B HHENEREE (2017185E)

Number of Licences Suspended /
Revoked (2017/18)

@31

5 H $H Suspended

30 [y

884 Revoked

FEEXEEEDNSEAR 2017185E)

Number of Enrolments in Continuing
Professional Development Activities (2017/18)

o 28,933
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About Us

The Estate Agents Authority (“EAA™) is a statutory body, established
in November 1997 under the Estate Agents Ordinance (“EAQ"). Its
principal functions are to regulate the practice of the estate agency
trade in Hong Kong, promote integrity and competence within the
industry, and facilitate training for practitioners to ensure a proper
standard of conduct.

The EAA organises qualifying examinations, issues licences to
individuals and companies, handles complaints against licensees,
conducts compliance inspections and metes out disciplinary
sanctions to practitioners who have breached the EAO. The EAA
also organises activities for the professional development of the
trade and promotion of consumer education.

The EAA is a self-financing body. It consists of a Chairman, a Vice-
chairman, and not more than 18 ordinary members from various
sectors in the community, including the estate agency sector. The
Chairman, Vice-chairman and every ordinary member are appointed
by the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region.



HEREfS /) Corporate Profile

FES By Vision & Mission
EPES Our Vision
EERMOIR The EAA strives for

. EREMEREBERNORPE HBERSBKLE excellence in regulating the practice of the estate agency
DVREHBERNELR & trade, for the protection of consumers’ interests; and

. TIRMWERBEENHER  NWERMLEE o supporting the development of an estate agency profession

E worthy of the respect of the community.
BMMEw Our Mission
HETEMERIBEMNIE  I2FHEEMELEL  To regulate the practice of estate agency in Hong Kong, raise the
B W AERT T SR EEEENIRST o competence of practitioners and set high standards of ethics and

conduct befitting the trade.

HERIEEE R « 2017/ 18 £ 5
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After twenty years of dedicated effort, the regulatory regime of the
Estate Agents Authority (“EAA") is well rooted. The trade accepts
that the EAA is watching over their shoulders not only for correcting
wrongdoings but also for educating them to raise their practice
standard.

That said, as property prices continue to rise in a market led by the
sales of first-hand properties, the continuous addition of
inexperienced newcomers joining the estate agency industry,
coupled with rising public expectations, have put the EAA in an
even more important role to rise to the challenge of its multiple
responsibilities in regulation, licensing, and education.

Challenges and opportunities

Over the past two decades the EAA has issued practice guidelines
for the trade, which have generally been followed. The trade
appreciates that such guidelines have positively impacted the
development of the trade as they understand that a well-regulated
profession will be highly regarded by the public.

In dealing with the issues relevant to properties outside Hong Kong,
we issued new guidelines in 2017/18 to cope with this new
challenge for the EAA. Although overseas properties are usually
outside the EAA's regulatory regime, we recognise the need to step
up our efforts to protect consumers. This initiative generates a
multi-win situation: not only does it provide our licensees with a set
of guidelines to follow, it also protects the interests of consumers
and ultimately encourages the public to hire licensed estate agents
for better consumer protection.
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Another challenge from last year was the anti-money laundering
("AML") legislation being extended to the estate agency trade.
With the amendment of the law, the EAA and the trade both have
new roles to play in the AML arena, which is an international
concern nowadays. Both the EAA and the trade need to raise our
standards on the regulatory fronts and the practice side to meet the
requirements of international organisations. On this, the EAA issued
a set of detailed guidelines to facilitate the trade’s preparations for
evaluations by the Financial Action Task Force by the end of 2018.
It is not an easy task but it is imperative that Hong Kong together
with the estate agency trade will pass the examination with flying
colours in order to make Hong Kong a “clean city” in global eyes.

With the renewal of the mutual recognition agreement with the
China Institute of Real Estate Appraisers and Agents (CIREA),
around 370 our licensees have obtained the qualifications to apply
for the registration certificates from the CIREA to practice estate
agency work in the Mainland, which of course includes the red-hot
Greater Bay Area.
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Disappointment and expectations

Although we are on the right track, sometimes unacceptable events
do happen. The recent incidents involving estate agents fighting at
sale-sites of first-hand residential properties are absolutely
intolerable, and have brought disrepute to the entire trade. Some
industry leaders blame the disorder on the intense competition
caused by the high number of agents competing for too little
business. This is an unfounded excuse. The true reason is individual
estate agency companies have assigned too many agents and
unlicensed staff to the sale-sites to garner customers. No matter
how competitive it is, use of violence is absolutely unacceptable.

While we cannot guess how many agents would be “just right” for
the trade, and we do not have any legal basis to limit the number
of agents present at the sale-sites, the EAA can take punitive
actions against those estate agency companies that use agents and
unlicensed staff inappropriately. In dealing with the fighting, we
have no other option but to tighten the practice rules and raise the
severity of punitive actions. The EAA is determined to put such
misbehaviours to a stop. Any offenders, be it a licensee engaged in
a fight, or a member of an agency company management
promulgating such violence, will face severe consequences. The
EAA will not allow a few black sheep to ruin the reputation of the
trade, which the majority of our agents deserve.

Investing in the future

With a view to stabilising the EAA’s operating costs and the level of
licence fees in the long run, the EAA has acquired a new office in
Chai Wan. Roughly 50% of our back office staff force will move
there in 2018. With a self-owned office that can house about half
of the staff force, the EAA will be able to hedge half of its rental
expenses against rental increase, which will be helpful in reducing
the possibility of a license fee increase in the near future.



FREAYES Chairman’s Message

WEeE Closing

MWERBITERME N Em 28/ BE=g#Ha  The estate agency business is dynamic. We have never been short

EORBZLIE - EEEREERISEERWBIAEEE  of events, be it changes, surprises, or new laws. The EAA board will

LEPKEY c RARBHFEZEHRA  HERIEAT L stand by the trade to meet those challenges. It is my sincere hope

20w e feHETBEFTRRAKOEELKE that the licensees, the agency companies, and the trade associations

SHERBEKATSAET AR LRESTE  will work in concert with the EAA to overcome whatever new

EMEE challenges that may arise and to make the trade one of the most
rewarding and respected professions in Hong Kong.

RAKHEB L sesaT@+ Dr William LEUNG Wing-cheung, sBs, Jp
FE Chairman

HERIEEEES « 2017/ 18 3R 11
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The Estate Agents Authority (“EAA"), as always, puts its main focus
and effort on regulating the estate agency trade, enhancing the
professionalism of the trade and strengthening the communication
with both the trade and the public during the review period of this
annual report.

Market overview

The total number of property transactions in 2017/18 recorded an
increase, amounting to 86,469, which is higher than the figure in
2016/17 by 4.7%. The total consideration has also increased by
23.45% to $764 billion.

Over the past few years, the number of licences has been on a
steady rise and the trend continued last year. Compared with the
end of the previous financial year, the number of licences has
increased by 3.54% and the total number of individual licensees
reached a record high of 38,687 as at the end of March 2018. The
overall number of candidates participating in the qualifying
examinations also showed an increase over the previous year.
During the year, the EAA has worked relentlessly to strengthen the
compliance of the trade as the number of licensees kept growing.

Gatekeeping and strengthening
compliance

One of the important components of a regulatory regime is
gatekeeping and compliance surveillance. To prevent examination
cheating, we tightened the rules and regulations for examinations
last year. During the year, the EAA issued four practice circulars for
the trade to comply with in response to changing market situations
to heighten the estate agency trade’s vigilance against non-
compliances and enhance their professional standards. They
included: Application of Circulars — Non-residential Properties, Sale
and Purchase or Leasing of Non-residential Properties, Sale of
Uncompleted Properties Situated Outside Hong Kong, and
Compliance of Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing Requirements.
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The EAA also regularly conducted compliance checks at first-sale
sites and estate agency shops and on online property
advertisements. During the year, the EAA conducted 1,423 and
1,625 compliance checks at first-sale sites and estate agency shops
respectively. A total of 672 inspections of online property
advertisements and 396 inspections of online property portals were
also conducted in 2017/18. Regular meetings with online portal
operators were also held to ensure that they were aware of the
EAA’s requirements regarding online property advertisements.

Concurrently with those checks, licensees were educated on new
practice circulars and legislative requirements relating to estate
agency practice. The trade was also reminded to comply with new
guidelines through Continuing Professional Development (“CPD")
seminars, letters to licensees and meetings with the trade.

In the year, the EAA received 425 complaints, a decrease of 11%
from 477 complaints in 2016/17. However, the complaints
concerning the sale of first-hand residential properties had a slight
increase from 74 cases in 2016/17 to 80 cases in 2017/18. The
most common complaints related to first-hand residential properties
remained the same, including failure to honour rebate promises,
issuance of non-compliant advertisements, and provision of
misleading mortgage information.

With the enactment of the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-
Terrorist Financing (Financial Institutions) (Amendment) Ordinance
2018 (“AMLO") effective from March 2018 which applies not only
to financial institutions but also to a much wider group of entities
including the real estate agency trade, the EAA has been working
closely with the estate agency trade on the implementation of
measures to prevent money laundering and terrorist financing.
Follow-up monitoring and prudential visits will be conducted to
further enhance the estate agency trade’s awareness and
understanding of the money laundering and terrorist financing
threats.

In 2017/18, the EAA revoked a total of 30 licences because those
licensees were no longer eligible to hold a licence. The EAA has also
adjudicated 229 non-compliant cases and a total of 232 licensees
were disciplined.

WEREBEER «2017/18 F3}
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Enhancing professionalism of the
trade

Following the signing of the renewal agreement for the mutual
recognition of professional qualifications between the EAA and the
Mainland’s national regulatory body, China Institute of Real Estate
Appraisers and Agents in June 2017, the second training course
and examination of the scheme were held in December 2017 in
Zhuhai. Through this exchange, estate agents from the Mainland
and Hong Kong commented that it would help deepen their
understanding in the regulatory regimes and system related to
property transactions of both sides.

The EAA also spared no effort on licensee education to further
enhance the professional standard of local agents. To recognise
licensees’ continuous effort in enhancing their knowledge through
participation in the CPD Scheme, the EAA introduced “Gold” and
“Silver” Premium CPD Attainment Symbols, which will be presented
to those licensees who have respectively achieved the CPD
attainment target for a consecutive period of five or three years.
The second batch of “Silver” Symbol was awarded in 2017/18.

Upon launching the first series of a structured programme “EAA's
Certificate Programme in Practice” in October 2016 by the EAA,
the certificate presentation ceremony was held in May 2017.

These initiatives encouraged licensees to enhance their professional
knowledge and participation in the CPD Scheme and there were
two more intakes of the classes for the Certificate Programme in
2017/18.
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Strengthening communication with
estate agency trade and the public

To maintain a two-way communication with the estate agency
trade, the EAA continued to hold liaison meetings with trade
associations and meet frontline licensees in various districts through
focus group meetings during the year.

The EAA further continued its efforts in promoting consumer
related information and raising public awareness of the EAA
through collaborations with the media and other initiatives. In the
year, the EAA organised press conferences, issued a number of
press releases, and arranged feature interviews with different
media. A number of articles were also contributed to various
columns in media to promote consumer related information and
introduce the EAA’s work.

In addition, the EAA organised two public seminars titled “Be Smart
in Non-residential Property Transactions” and “Points to Note on
Purchasing Properties Situated outside Hong Kong” during the year.

Celebrating the EAA’s 20 anniversary

On the occasion of the EAA’s 20™ anniversary since its inauguration
in 1997, the EAA organised the Outstanding Estate Agent Award to
further promote the professionalism of the estate agency trade and
recognise the achievement of outstanding practitioners in the
industry. It also serves as a platform for industry exchange and
professionalism enhancement.

With an aim to promote young people’s understanding of the
estate agency trade so as to build up their interest and trust in the
industry and enhance the trade’s professional image, the EAA
organised its first Micro Movie Competition for post-secondary
students in 2017.

WEREBEER «2017/18 F3}
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Planning ahead

In the years ahead, the EAA is gearing up to face new challenges.
We are determined to continue to discharge our duties faithfully,
sanction any acts of non-compliances or challenges to the authority
of the EAA, and will revoke the licences of those not suitable to
hold one anymore. While we have a plan to organise computer-
based qualifying examinations in 2019 to provide a speedy mode
for taking examinations, we will also adjust the level of difficulty of
the examinations to enhance the standard of new entrants to the
industry.

Meanwhile, we will continue to educate our trade and enhance
their professionalism, such as equipping them for the Anti-Money
Laundering Mutual Evaluation in late 2018. In addition, the first
batch of “Gold” Symbol under the CPD Scheme will be awarded in
late 2018. Needless to say, we will step up our efforts in consumer

education on various topics.

(R EERRENAREERBEBLL T REXERAETREXIUNRBEETRREE

EAA Chief Executive Officer Ms Ruby Hon (front row)

EAA Director of Regulatory Affairs and General Counsel Ms Juliet Leung, Director of Operations and Professional Development
Ms Annie Fonda and Director of Services Mr lvan Wong (from left, back row)

18 ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY e Annual Report 2017/18
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IS it Acknowledgements

BB 201718FEEMEESHIAAL - 28 AER  Our achievements of the year could only have been made possible
MEOEALF FEENR  RAROKHFEE  with the support of all our stakeholders. Most importantly, | am
BEEMEMESREKENER  LIEMED &K deeply grateful to the EAA Chairman and other Board members for
ATENAEETR —FIBAEM TENE THh=E their foresight, support and advice, as well as the hard work of all
B o EAA staff.

EEEREBNTHE IAMEMNENS HZET - Through the continued efforts of the EAA team and the support of
HRFPIEBRAERNEEKFT - AHERIEITELL  our stakeholders, we shall be able to enhance the professionalism

EREFBHEULL S - of the trade for the benefit of our trade, Hong Kong and beyond.
B Ruby HON Yuen-ping
TTHRUAEEL Chief Executive Officer

HEREESR «2017/18 41 19
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Corporate Governance

BB ARHEERNEERAENENSZERNZ  To enhance public trust in the Estate Agents Authority (“EAA”) and
AiRkER  BEERBIRAKBEE S EETCHRER  for the best interests of its stakeholders, the EAA spares no effort in
BIZH) TSR - #FaEHE - A©L - ME&M  taking corporate governance to a higher level and reaching a high

FEBRE - standard of integrity, impartiality, accountability and transparency
when discharging its duties under the Estate Agents Ordinance
(“EAO”).

HEERESR Governance Framework

BIBEREE Governance structure

EEREER  FRZESHESF M The EAA Board, Standing Committees and Working Panel

¢ Finance and Strategic Development Committee
¢ Disciplinary Committee
FRERR . g Licensing Committee
. iﬁl#&%ﬁ%ﬁ% ; Practice and Examination Committee
. $¥§§E§§§\\ s X Professional Development Committee
. FosiAEIME vestigati -

EEMIEE

Supervision and Guidance

l

& REARE GilfEaE i
Accountability and Transparency Checks and Balances

T T

Stakeholders

(AR~ ER (e.g. the public, trade
R EAE) and the Government)

20 ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY e Annual Report 2017/18
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HHE VG Corporate Governance

The EAA Board and composition

The Board

The highest decision-making authority of the EAA is the Board. It
sets the overall strategic direction and policies of the EAA, such as
considering and endorsing its corporate plan, annual work plan and
annual budget. It also supervises and monitors the performance of
the EAA Administration.

Board composition

The constitution of the EAA Board is stipulated by the EAO. The
EAA Board consists of a Chairman, a Vice-chairman, and not more
than 18 ordinary members from different sectors of the community,
including the estate agency sector and the Transport and Housing
Bureau. All Board members are determined and appointed for a
fixed term by the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. After appointment, new Board members will
be provided with briefings and information packages by the
Administration to familiarise themselves with the work of the EAA.

Board members come from varied backgrounds with diverse
knowledge, experience and expertise, including the sectors of real
estate agency, business, legal, surveying, finance, accounting
professions and academia. They bring to the Board their own
wisdom and independent perspectives. The combination of
members from within and outside the estate agency trade also
provides the Board with a more balanced and holistic view when
setting policies and identifying measures. The names and details of
all current Board members are listed in the next section of this
report.

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO") of
the EAA are held by different persons and their roles are
segregated. The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board in
enforcing the EAO, setting strategies and policies for the EAA, while
the CEO is the head of administration responsible for executing the
decisions of the Board and administering everyday business and
affairs of the EAA.
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Dr William LEUNG Wing-cheung, SBS, JP

e Chairman, Employees Retraining Board

e Advisor, Our Hong Kong Foundation

e Chairman, Governing Board of Hong Kong Creative
Arts Centre Limited

e Ex-officio Member, Manpower Development
Committee

e Co-opted Member, Youth Education, Employment
and Training Task Force of the Commission on Poverty

e Member, Advisory Board of Yan Oi Tong
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Ms Elaine LIU Yuk-ling, JP
Barrister-at-law

e Chairman, Licensing Appeals Board

e Deputy Chairman, Board of Review (Inland Revenue
Ordinance)

e Chairman, Committee on Mediation of Hong Kong
Bar Association

e Member, District Court Rules Committee

e Member, Advisory Committee on Travel Agents

e Member, Professional Services Advisory Committee
of Hong Kong Trade Development Council



5 & MEMBERS

HHE VG Corporate Governance

BEEHER

BERANBEWERERFBERK
REEE

BERNSREERAFTT LOEE

o TiitpEES/NMAMKE(2017-19)

o RZEBE(MEEZEBIEG)K
£ (2013-19)

o THIRERFAZESKE

(2015-18)

o HEFEFTEM FFREEGKE
(2011-17)

o FRZEBORMMRENKE
(2006-12)

o EFAEMMEGY K (2009-10)

Professor CHAU Kwong-wing

Chair Professor and Head of Department
of Real Estate and Construction, The
University of Hong Kong

Director, Ronald Coase Centre for
Property Rights Research, The University
of Hong Kong

e Member, Task Force on Land
Supply (2017-19)

e Member, Appeal Board Panel
(Urban Renewal Authority
Ordinance) (2013-19)

e Member, Land and Development
Advisory Committee (2015-18)

e Member, Home Purchase
Allowance Appeals Committee
(2011-17)

e Member, Appeal Board Panel
(Town Planning) (2006-12)

e President, Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors (2009-10)

REI#IEE AT At
REPHIEINREMEBHAEBA
o TTHEHEKE
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s BEEEZE®ZER

o ERRBEFBRATESR
o BERBREGKE

The Honorable Horace
CHEUNG Kwok-kwan, JP

Partner, Cheung & Yeung, Solicitors

e Member, Executive Council of the
HKSAR

e Member, Legislative Council of the
HKSAR

e Member, Central & Western District
Council

e Member, Hong Kong Housing
Authority

e Director, The Hong Kong Mortgage
Corporation Limited

e Court Member, The University of
Hong Kong

REHEEATFHL
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ERBORR B PTEARR2ED

RECAREHREKE
LEFEEE (5 £ /F

tHzEe(FEIKE
BREERM LR E S (ZH
B %

ABEREHEEHE (2008-14)

Mrs Peggy CHEUNG Po-yee, JP

Of Counsel, Jones Day International
Law Firm

Member, Solicitors Disciplinary
Tribunal Panel

Chairman, Appeals Tribunal Panel
(Buildings)

Member, Appeals Panel (Housing)
Chairman, Fishermen Claims Appeal
Board (Trawl Ban)

Adjudicator, Registration of Persons
Tribunal (2008-14)
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s AAXBEABMZEGKE

o SELREREE (2017-18)

Mr Douglas LAM Tak-yip, SC
Senior Counsel, Des Voeux Chambers

e Chairperson, Insurance Appeals

Tribunal

e Chairman, Appeal Tribunal Panel
(Buildings)

e Deputy Chairman, Administrative
Appeals Board

e Member, Independent Police
Complaints Council

e Member, Board of Advisers of Radio
Television Hong Kong

e Deputy Judge, the High Court
(2017-18)
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Ms Imma LING Kit-sum

Retired Assurance Partner,
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Independent Non-executive Director
and Audit Committee Chairperson,
Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited

e Council Member and Audit
Committee Chairperson, The
Education University of Hong Kong

e Hospital Governance Committee
Member, Kwong Wah Hospital &
TWGHs Wong Tai Sin Hospital,
Hospital Authority

e Member, Appeal Board Panel
(Town Planning)

e Council Member, Hong Kong
Federation of Youth Groups

e Executive Committee Member,
Hong Kong Youth Hostels
Association

e Board Member, HKSAR Employees
Compensation Assistance Fund
Board (2006-12)
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Ms Jane Curzon LO, JP
Barrister-at-law

e Deputy Chairman, Accreditation
of Academic and Vocational
Qualifications Appeal Board

e Adjudicator, Immigration
Tribunal

e Chairman, Security and Guarding
Services Industry Authority

e Member, Torture Claims Appeal
Board

e Member, Advisory Committee on
Arts Development
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HE B 4838 (1994-95)

o RECRWERZESHELE
(1995-96)

Mr NG Kai-man

Chief Executive Officer, Century 21
Hong Kong Limited

e Director, Pok Oi Hospital (1994-95)

e Co-chairman, Community Chest
Estates for the Chest Committee
(1995-96)

AfEEEL L

F-RFEAGEREXERA
BRARERES
Ms Anna SETO Wai-ching

Senior Director, Savills Valuation and
Professional Services Limited
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HHEEMITERA

REBEFETHEREZESER
EABRIITHEER EREE
eSS
ERZEC(EEHRE)ER
BEHRE L REREEX8
FHFZEBES(BE) £/ (2007-13)
FRZEEEWmMREDZ8
(2013-17)
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Mr Simon SIU Chak-yu, BBS, JP

Partner, Hastings & Co.

Chairman, Environmental Impact
Assessment Appeal Board Panel
Deputy Chairman, HKSAR Passports
Appeal Board

Chairman, Board of Review (Film
Censorship)

Member, Torture Claims Appeal
Board

Chairman, Appeal Panel (Housing)
(2007-13)

Member, Appeal Board Panel
(Town Planning) (2013-17)
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Mr Calvin TSE Shun-lai

CEO, Ka Wai Property Agency Co. Ltd.
CEO, Ka Hing Properties Co. Ltd.

e Chairman, Hong Kong Real
Estate Agencies General
Association

e Member, Sedentary and
Professional Services Safety and
Health Committee, Occupational
Safety & Health Council

e Chairman, Incorporated Owners
of Garden Rivera

EE N =g g

BRI (F8) BRAF THSE
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s BEBEIBEE

o REREH LFBEEKE

REWREE

Ms Phoebe TSE Siu-ling

General Manager, Commercial Banking
Department, Bank of China (Hong
Kong) Limited

e Member, the Hong Kong Export
Credit Insurance Corporation
Advisory Board

e Member, Employees Retraining
Board

e Member, Insurance Appeals
Tribunal
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Dr Lawrance WONG Dun-
king, MH

President, Many Wells Property Agent
Limited
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e Honorary President, Hong Kong
Chamber of Professional Property
Consultants Limited

e Member, Employees Retraining
Board

e Convenor, Course and Service
Development Committee,
Employees Retraining Board

e Convenor, Real Estate Agency,
Industry Consultative Networks,
Employees Retraining Board

e Member, Quality Assurance and
Review Committee, Employees
Retraining Board

e Member, Tuen Mun District
Coordination Mechanism, Social
Welfare Department
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Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han
Chief Executive, Consumer Council

e Ex-officio Member, Management
Committee of the Consumer Legal
Action Fund

e Member, Advisory Committee on
Travel Agents

e Member, Deposit-taking
Companies Advisory Committee,
Hong Kong Monetary Authority

e Member, Travel Industry
Compensation Fund Management
Board

e Member, Committee on Reduction
of Salt and Sugar in Food

e Member, Competition Policy
Advisory Group

EREBRATNTES
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Mr Ricky WONG Kwong-yiu

Executive Director, Wheelock and
Company Limited

Managing Director, Wheelock Properties
(HK) Limited

e Co-opted Member, the Hong Kong
Diploma of Secondary Education
Examination — Applied Learning
Subject Committee of the Hong Kong
Examinations and Assessment
Authority

e Director, Hong Kong Green Building
Council and Vice-Chairman, Public
Education Committee

e V/ice-Chairman, Employers’ Federation
of Hong Kong

e Fellow Member, Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors

e Member, Advisory Committee on
Enhancing Self-Reliance Through
District Partnership Programme,
Home Affairs Department

EHEHSLEE MH
hRMERIEGRATIEARTFER
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o BAAEK (L) HREREEKE

Mr Addy WONG Wai-hung, MH

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
— Asia Pacific, Centaline Property Agency Ltd

e Chairman, Centaline Charity Fund
Limited

e Hon. Chairman & Council Member,
POLCCF Dialysis Centre

e Deputy President, Hong Kong
Professionals and Senior Executives
Association

e Member, HKTDC's Infrastructure
Development Advisory Committee

e Member, Council On Professional
Conduct in Education, Education
Bureau

e Member, Personal Data (Privacy)
Advisory Committee
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Mr YU Wai-wai, JP

General Manager (Project Management
(1) Department), Henderson Land
Development Company Limited

e Member, Construction Sub —
Committee, The Real Estate
Developers Association of Hong
Kong (REDA)

e Member, Appeal Tribunal Panel
(Buildings) of Development Bureau

e Member, Construction Workers
Registration Board, Construction
Industry Council

e Member, Home Affairs Department
— Advisory Committee on
Enhancing Self-Reliance Through
District Partnership Programme

e Member, Appeal Board Panel,
Technical Committee on Plumbing,
Water Supplies Department

e Member, Construction Industry
Council (2008-14)
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Ms Avon YUE Nga-fong

Partner, Ernst & Young Advisory
Services Limited

e Member, Assessment Committee
of Exchanges with Taiwan Funding
Scheme

e Member, Fisheries Development
Loan Fund Advisory Committee

e Member, Mainland Fishermen
Deckhands Scheme

e Observer, Independent Police
Complaints Council
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Ms Esther LEUNG Yuet-yin, JP

Deputy Secretary for Transport and
Housing (Housing)

(Representative of Permanent Secretary
for Transport and Housing

(Housing))
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Committees and panel

There are five standing committees and one working panel under
the EAA Board to oversee the various aspects of the EAA's work. All
committees shall consist of at least three members. All committee
members are appointed by the EAA Board.

The EAA Board may also set up panels and work groups to deal
with particular issues from time to time. When necessary, the EAA
may also appoint other persons (i.e. Board-appointed members)
who are not members of the EAA Board to the committees, panels
or work groups. For example, a Section 28 Investigation Panel was
set up to monitor the use of the investigative powers under section
28 of the EAO. This Panel will only meet on a need basis. In
2017/18, there was no meeting held.

The standing committees and working panel of the EAA in 2017/18
are listed in the following section.

Terms of reference and membership

Finance and Strategic Development Committee

Terms of Reference:

1. To consider strategic issues of long-term significance, in
preparation for consideration by the Board.

2. To examine issues of major financial significance, in particular,
draft statements of accounts, appointment of external
auditor, staff cost implications, budgetary matters, long-term
financial planning and asset management, and to make
recommendations to the Board for consideration.

3. To oversee human resources management and to review and
approve establishment structure, reorganisation, manpower
planning and development of human resources policies and
procedures.

4. To examine issues of major significance in human resources
management, in particular, the pay structure, remuneration
and allowance policies and terms and conditions of
employment of the EAA employees (including the CEO and
Directors), and to make recommendations to the Board for
consideration.
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5. REBETRIEMIET  BREENITHREE 5. Atthe direction of the Chairman, to review and evaluate the
MBERTIERIR - UEETEEEA - T&RH performance of the CEO and Directors for the purpose of
BE B fE  KRIESEEIER - siH M confirmation of appointment, extension of probation,
HEAEEEE  URBTREOHHIRRIRE promotion, dismissal, termination or renewal of employment
MHEE TR RRREEREERES - or other employment related issues and the granting of any

performance-linked awards, and to make recommendations
to the Board for consideration.

6. BERERUBHEERITHIPMEBNEETL 6. To review and endorse the annual work plan and budget
EstEIffEE = YN ERERIEERES prepared by the Administration and to recommend the same
e o to the Board for consideration.

7. BEETRESWIREETHIERSWAEER 7. To devise guidelines for and make recommendations to the
EERRERER - Board on the investment of the EAA monies.

8. HBEXARABRATHEERAMMKLKER 8. To monitor trade and community response to the EAA
KE WENAEEREERE EMBEE regulations and policies and, on such basis, recommend

TEEEER - appropriate actions to the Board and/or the standing
committees for consideration.

9. THREEeIFESIKT—EHEZEEE/KE 9. To set up a task force as may from time to time be directed
MK TR NE - WRITZE B2 ERATRIRN by the Committee Chairman, comprising any member(s) of
Ik FHENMENIELER  MERRESEHS the Committee, to carry out such tasks as the Committee
RREE - Chairman may assign; to deliberate on the findings of the

task force; and to make recommendations to the Board for
approval as appropriate.

10, HITHEEREERBEEERIENTIE - 10. To perform such other tasks as the Board may from time to

11.

MARTE LR ESITEERBEEME I EE
ERRHEEERIR

11.

time delegate.

To obtain legal and/or expert advice or service relating to the
exercise of the Committee’s functions and powers as and
when the Committee considers necessary.

X & Membership:

FJE Chairman: PoKFETH L SBS K4+ Dr William LEUNG Wing-cheung, SBS, JP
REISE B ATt The Honorable Horace CHEUNG Kwok-kwan, JP
BERA T4t Ms Elaine LIU Yuk-ling, JP
#ErLE AN Tt Ms Jane Curzon LO, JP

P& Members: =R ML T Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han
REERFHL Mr YU Wai-wai, JP
BRkEEREENER Permanent Secretary for Transport and Housing
(BE)sH HRE (Housing) or his representative

30
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Disciplinary Committee
Terms of Reference:

1.

To draw up guidelines and procedures to ensure consistency
and fairness in handling disciplinary cases.

To receive, consider and inquire into complaints as mentioned
in section 29(1) of the EAO and submissions by the CEO as
mentioned in section 29(2) of the EAO that are referred by
the EAA to the Committee, and to conduct such inquiry as
the Committee may think fit after having considered such
complaints and submissions.

To receive and inquire into complaints lodged against licensed
estate agents or salespersons for breaches of the Code of
Ethics, practice circulars or guidelines issued to the trade from
time to time by the EAA.

To consider the reports and recommendations of the
investigator appointed by the EAA under section 28 of the
EAO, with referral by the Section 28 Investigation Panel, to
look into suspected and alleged breaches or non-compliance
of the provisions of the EAO and to conduct such inquiry as
the Committee may think fit after having considered such
reports and recommendations.

To exercise any of the disciplinary powers provided under
section 30 of the EAO as the Committee considers
appropriate.

To attach to licences such conditions as the Committee may
consider appropriate.

To refer from time to time cases of malpractice or complaints
considered by the Committee to other committees for
formulation and/or revision of policies, practice or regulations
for better discharge of the EAA’s functions.

To set up a task force as may from time to time be directed
by the Committee Chairman, comprising any member(s) of
the Committee, to carry out such tasks as the Committee
Chairman may assign; to deliberate on the findings of the
task force; and to make recommendations to the Board for
approval as appropriate.
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9. WARFTE ERESITEEBEEME IR
ERRHEEERIR

9.

To obtain legal and/or expert advice or service relating to the
exercise of the Committee’s functions and powers as and
when the Committee considers necessary.

X & Membership:

BEIRAFHat
kA BERAFHLT
EREFERAZAM
BILBNFHL
REEREE
AlftEaE "L
#it BT 55 4
SEREIE £ MH
mILRSEE
HEMEEEMH
RIEFLL

F & Chairman:

X & Members:

REDLL
IERZ L
e E
AT
FhRELL
BERELE
ERaxt

ZEKE
Board-appointed
members:

BREES
BEaE -
1. TRREFRHEREREXZBZEERE

2. MEMEZMRERBALBERENER -

3. HETREERTTHREMPARERR & EFBHA
ENEFE  WANAEREFBRBEARRSL
BEEMMREEFBHAE -
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Ms Elaine LIU Yuk-ling, JP

Mrs Peggy CHEUNG Po-yee, JP

Mr Douglas LAM Tak-yip, SC

Ms Jane Curzon LO, JP

Mr NG Kai-man

Ms Anna SETO Wai-ching

Mr Calvin TSE Shun-lai

Dr Lawrance WONG Dun-king, MH
Mr Ricky WONG Kwong-yiu

Mr Addy WONG Wai-hung, MH

Ms Avon YUE Nga-fong

Ms Winnie CHEUNG Lai-chun
Ms Doreen KONG Yuk-foon
Mr Anthony KWOK Chong
Mr Alex LAl Sze-wai

Ms Sylvia LEE

Mr LIU Chi-ming

Ms Jessica YIP Mo-ching

Licensing Committee
Terms of Reference:

1.

To consider and recommend licensing requirements for estate
agents and salespersons.

To consider and recommend the criteria for exemption from
the licensing requirements for any particular class of persons.

To instruct the EAA Administration to process applications for
licences/statements of particulars of business (“SPOBs”) and
to grant or renew such licences/SPOBs to applicants meeting
the licensing requirements.
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4, %ﬁ;ﬁ% RXFEEE IR EEFIGHAZHE 4. To consider and if thought appropriate, to approve or refuse
CERAREE AL ESIELERE - applications for licences/SPOBs brought before the
Committee.
5. (IEREITOHERIEEMYSE17 2324 5. To exercise and perform any and such of the EAA's functions
25 K27 G R b EE AR FE (B R8) 380 ) 58 9 1K RT and powers under sections 17, 23, 24, 25 and 27 of the EAO
FHESE BT B BERIRE /7 - and section 9 of the Estate Agents (Licensing) Regulation.
6. HIEBBEMEENBR 6.  To set policies relating to licensing matters.
7. R RESEREBALEERSBERBEZWE 7. Toreview and make recommendations on the scale of licence
BE - fees and charges for services provided by the EAA.
8. AT LRETEEBEIEE BRI E U - 8. To consider and design the relevant forms and related
documents pertaining to licensing matters.
9. THEEEEeImiEsK T —EHRZEESXKS 9. To set up a task force as may from time to time be directed

MR TN URITEESTREAMEZRN
T BHRNMENTHELER  RERRESER
e -

by the Committee Chairman, comprising any member(s) of
the Committee, to carry out such tasks as the Committee
Chairman may assign; to deliberate on the findings of the

task force; and to make recommendations to the Board for
approval as appropriate.

10. WRAEFZE pEE8e/FEBEMENER 10
EERNBEERSRE -

To obtain legal and/or expert advice or service relating to the
exercise of the Committee’s functions and powers as and
when the Committee considers necessary.

X & Membership:

F & Chairman: FEAAKRFAT Ms Jane Curzon LO, JP
B R Professor CHAU Kwong-wing
wEBERAFALT Mrs Peggy CHEUNG Po-yee, JP
BRI Ms Imma LING Kit-sum
H B 5 & Mr Calvin TSE Shun-lai

X 8 Members:
EiAN=g G Ms Phoebe TSE Siu-ling
EHIBEE Mr Ricky WONG Kwong-yiu
= (E S A MH Mr Addy WONG Wai-hung, MH
RS 2+ Ms Avon YUE Nga-fong
BEREE Mr LIU Chi-ming

= 1ERK B e .

=0 , FRou BRI SR Sr Keith SIU Leung-hung

Board-appointed

members: KREELZ L Representative of the Consumer Council
CHEEZEGNAR) — Ms Winnie CHEUNG Yuk-wan
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Practice and Examination Committee
Terms of Reference:

1.

10.

To draw up, review and revise code(s) of ethics governing the
conduct and practice of the estate agency trade.

To review and make recommendations on the regulations
under the EAQ relating to the practice and operation of estate
agents.

To consider and review practices within the trade and prepare
or consider practice circulars or other guidelines on various
aspects of estate agency work from time to time.

To monitor compliance of the EAO and its subsidiary
legislations, code(s) of ethics, practice circulars or other
guidelines; and to liaise with the trade on ways to improve
the standard of practice and quality of service.

To determine the syllabi and fees for the qualifying
examinations for estate agents and salespersons.

To set the parameters for the administration of the qualifying
examinations.

To oversee and give direction to the EAA Administration in
the setting and moderation of examination questions and
determination of penalties for breaches of examination
regulations by candidates.

To review and determine the pass marks and commendation
marks for the qualifying examinations and, where
appropriate, those for each part thereof.

To set up a task force as may from time to time be directed
by the Committee Chairman, comprising any member(s) of
the Committee, to carry out such tasks as the Committee
Chairman may assign; to deliberate on the findings of the
task force; and to make recommendations to the Board for
approval as appropriate.

To obtain legal and/or expert advice or service relating to the
exercise of the Committee’s functions and powers as and
when the Committee considers necessary.
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Vice-chairman:
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The Honorable Horace CHEUNG Kwok-kwan, JP

Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han

Professor CHAU Kwong-wing
Mrs Peggy CHEUNG Po-yee, JP
Mr Douglas LAM Tak-yip, SC
Ms Imma LING Kit-sum

Mr NG Kai-man

Ms Anna SETO Wai-ching

Mr Simon SIU Chak-yu, BBS, JP
Mr Calvin TSE Shun-lai

Ms Phoebe TSE Siu-ling

Dr Lawrance WONG Dun-king, MH
Mr Ricky WONG Kwong-yiu

Mr Addy WONG Wai-hung, MH

Permanent Secretary for Transport and Housing
(Housing) or his representative

Mr Louis CHAN Wing-kit
Mr Richard LEE Chi-shing

Mr LEE King-leong

Professional Development Committee

Terms of Reference:

1. To examine the training needs and design appropriate training
programmes to raise the competence of licensees.

2. To oversee the implementation of the Continuing Professional
Development (“CPD") Scheme including:

a.  conducting periodic reviews on its focus, scope and
requirements;

b.  determining guidelines for assigning core and non-core
activities;

C. approving CPD activity providers and evaluating CPD
activities;

WEREBEER «2017/18 F3}
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d.  adopting appropriate CPD activities of other professions
and trades into the CPD Scheme of the EAA; and

e.  monitoring the effectiveness of the CPD Scheme and
making recommendations to the Board as appropriate.

To advise on professional exchange activities and monitor the
administration of scheme(s) relating to reciprocal recognition
of professional qualifications for the estate agency trade.

To set up a task force as may from time to time be directed
by the Committee Chairman, comprising any member(s) of
the Committee, to carry out such tasks as the Committee
Chairman may assign; to deliberate on the findings of the
task force; and to make recommendations to the Board for
approval as appropriate.

To obtain such legal and/or expert advice as the Committee
may consider necessary for or in relation to the proper
discharge and exercise of the Committee’s functions and

powers.

X & Membership:

E & Chairman: REEANFHL Mr YU Wai-wai, JP
EREERANEM Mr Douglas LAM Tak-yip, SC
BRI+ Ms Imma LING Kit-sum
REESE Mr NG Kai-man
RlfEEAX L Ms Anna SETO Wai-ching
FX & Members: FEFBBS A T+ Mr Simon SIU Chak-yu, BBS, JP
EiAN=g G Ms Phoebe TSE Siu-ling
TEFARIE £ MH Dr Lawrance WONG Dun-king, MH
BEHREERBEMER Permanent Secretary for Transport and Housing
(BB HRE (Housing) or his representative
BRI E Mr Ivan IP Kwok-hung
A Mr Anthony KWOK Chong
iiii\poime q BrXigt Dr KWONG Tsz-man
members: REBEET Dr Horace YUEN Hoi-sing
b Representative of Vocational Training Council
(BEImBRE) — Mr Leslie LEUNG Kim-hang
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Section 28 Investigation Panel’
Terms of Reference:

1.

To formulate guidelines for and procedures on the selection
of cases for investigation under section 28 of the EAOQ.

2. EEERBGHEMREEGIE28B#EITHEEE © 2. To oversee the conduct of investigation under section 28 of
WRAS TIERGEDIRE the EAO to ensure its full compliance.

3. ERNERESRITHIFGHEZRAEEER 3. To receive and consider reports and recommendations from
BOLERIEIERD) F 28 1KETHAENIZFEK the EAA Administration on suspected or alleged cases of
WiE RSB BT ERIEBIEMN)AIRTE breaches or non-compliance of a requirement(s) or other
Sk H A A E R T 2R ME AR provision(s) of the EAQ warranting investigation under section

28 of the EAO.

4. WEBOLERBEL)E28IKEFTHESE - E 4. To appoint investigator(s) under section 28 of the EAO to
HNMERAESENAEBNRTERAETE conduct such investigation and carry out such duties as the
ROBE TS o Panel considers necessary.

5. ESNEERBGLEREBEFYSE281E/4 5 To receive and consider the reports and recommendations
ZEMFEEFTIER MRS FIE © from the investigator appointed by the Panel under section 28

of the EAO.

6. MABTBERE/IEZERTEGEEREEF)Y 6. Where the investigator recommends to the Panel that the
E30IEFTEIAMLEZREDRESN - BB BB exercise of disciplinary powers under section 30 of the EAO
BEEILEEZELHEIE - should be considered, to refer the case to the Disciplinary

Committee for its consideration.

7. THEEZESeXEEIIKT—EHEEEME 7. To set up a task force as may from time to time be directed
B TVENE  UEITEETFEREIRY by the Panel Chairman, comprising any member(s) of the
T B/ VN TEER  NERREER Panel, to carry out such tasks as the Panel Chairman may
RS - assign; to deliberate on the findings of the task force; and to

make recommendations to the Board for approval as
appropriate.

8., WRAEZEE BITECGHEREEM)YE281& 8. To obtain legal and/or expert advice or service relating to the
FreT MBS E BB REME N ERUER N, & exercise of the EAA’s functions and powers as prescribed by
¥E Rk - section 28 of the EAO as and when the Panel considers

necessary.

9. 1TERIMITCHEMRIEIEMI)E28EFTEIHA 9. To exercise and perform any and such of the EAA's functions

EERBEMEN -

and powers as prescribed by section 28 of the EAO.

X & Membership:

=& Chairman: 25 BBS A A+ Mr Simon SIU Chak-yu, BBS, JP
BELRHIR Professor CHAU Kwong-wing
f% & Members:
REEAFHL Mr YU Wai-wai, JP

! TEFREZES BEFENEMAES - %/ \EE201718
FEVERREE

Not a standing committee, meet as and when needed. In 2017/18, there was
no meeting held.
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Meetings attendance

According to the EAO, the quorum for a meeting of the EAA shall
be at least half of the members of the EAA for the time being
(including the Chairman and the Vice-chairman whether present or
not). Each member of the EAA present at a meeting thereof shall
have a vote.

In 2017/18, the number of meetings, the average attendance rates
and number of papers considered by the EAA Board and standing

committees were as follows:

=1 SEE R * REZNXHHE
Number of Average Number of papers
meetings held attendance rate* considered
=S5
4 79% 39
The EAA Board
PR REEREES
' REEE ' ' 2 79% 11
Finance and Strategic Development Committee
WHEREREg
ﬁ%—% : 2 67% 10
Disciplinary Committee**
REET
H%E ; : 5 80% 10
Licensing Committee
== 5 ’gﬁ
HEREHEAE | 5 7% 10
Practice and Examination Committee
EREE®
=E - = _ 2 57% 22
Professional Development Committee
* ZESHRXOEESRAKNENESERETKE - * The attendance of committees includes Board members and Board-appointed
members.
o REFEE®R LEAZEGNEZRXEREFREZAEKE  ** In addition to attendance at meetings, Board members and Board-appointed

RIS R BRI - S5 HRE RIEDI R AEL FIR -

ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY e Annual Report 2017/18

members of the Disciplinary Committee are also required to sit at inquiry
hearings for the adjudication of suspected non-compliances of the licensees.
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Integrity and Impartiality

Standard of conduct
The EAA is fully committed to the principles of honesty, integrity
and fair play in the delivery of its services to the public.

The EAA is a public body under the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance.
All Board members and employees of the EAA are regarded as
“public servants” for the purpose of that ordinance.

As a statutory body tasked with regulating the practice of the estate
agency trade in Hong Kong, the EAA strives to maintain the highest
possible level of quality service and ethical standards. To promote
and maintain public confidence, all EAA staff are required to have a
high standard of integrity and conduct. They are required to comply
with the Code of Conduct which sets out in detail the basic
standards of conduct in different aspects, including confidentiality,
conflicts of interest and acceptance of advantages. All EAA staff are
briefed on the Code upon their commencement of duty at the EAA,
and may access the document easily at any time through the EAA’s
intranet.

The post-employment sanitisation period for the CEO, Directors and
Managers (including Senior Managers) are respectively one year, six
months and two months. There is also a prohibition on all staff,
including the CEO and Directors, to take the estate agents or
salespersons qualifying examinations during service and within two
months after service.

WEREBEER «2017/18 F3}
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EERSARNTIERS
BEE RE TIERRENEM
The public are kept abreast of the EAA’s work and initiatives through various

Disclosure of interest

To foster public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the
EAA, the EAA adopts a two-tier reporting system on declaration of
interest as a safeguard against potential conflict of interest. All
Board members and Board-appointed members are required to
register their interests with the EAA upon their appointment to
membership and annually thereafter. They are also required to
declare their interests at all EAA meetings in any subject and matter
under consideration by the EAA, and any conflict of interest or
potential conflict of interest which they may have with the affairs of
the EAA. The register of interests is available for public inspection.

In addition, all EAA staff also have to declare annually if they have
any direct or indirect financial interest in any company or
organisation which competes with the EAA, which the EAA has
business dealings with, or which is being regulated by the EAA.

Regarding interests in land and property, all EAA Board members
and Board-appointed members are required to declare any such
beneficial interests they have in Hong Kong or overseas, without
disclosing details of the addresses of such land or property.
Registrable interests include land or property owned by a member
in his/her name or held indirectly through another company or
person. It also includes land or property which a member has a right
over its disposition or has any pecuniary interest deriving from it.
The managerial staff of the EAA Administration are also required to
follow a similar requirement in declaring their interests in land and

property.
Accountability and Transparency

The EAA considers accountability one of the fundamental pillars of
corporate governance and has built its corporate structure and
management culture based on this concept. Under the current
structure, the Board is accountable for the overall performance of
the EAA. The Administration is responsible for managing the EAA’s
everyday business and is accountable to the Board for its
performance.

CEERTMEEBEETRER PR RRERE

communication channels, such as the mass media, EAA publications and its
website.
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Corporate Authorisation Manual

To maintain a high standard of accountability, a Corporate
Authorisation Manual was formulated for the EAA to provide
corporate management authority guidelines. All members of the
EAA, standing committees, work groups/panels and all staff must
act in compliance with the spirit and intent of the Manual and
within the scope of authorities therein conferred.

Access to information
To facilitate the public to access information about the EAA, the
EAA has designated the Director of Services as the Access to

B ZEREBARBEEESRHC(AMERSAI) Information Officer who is responsible for ensuring that requests

et EREHEF -

for access to information under the EAA’s Code on Access to
Information are properly dealt with in accordance with specific
procedures.

REER EREH
Application Information Requested

Outcome

PEER B RIER A EAER
All accepted FEFLEHALER

Personal Data submitted for licence application
Investigation and inquiry hearing results

ERNERRERE
Summary of Applications for Access to Information
FE RE#E
Year No of
Applications
201718 2
2016/17 1
2015/16 0

B4~ FE=EHB A BERER X
Declined* Confirmation letter on an education
record issued by a third party
NiE A NiE
N/A N/A

* EZRSARARBEMBENFE=ERAE

RRESEERIENERE  EERBFMEHN
FERREREX DR URE2LAEGEE -1
RAREERRERNBUMNERREFR -

*  Consent from the third party required for the release of the record could not be
obtained.

To increase the transparency of the EAA’s work, the EAA furnishes
an Annual Report to the Secretary for Transport and Housing,
copies of which have to be laid before the Legislative Council and
are made available to the public at the EAA’s office and website.

Members of the public are also kept abreast of the EAA’s work and
initiatives through various communication channels, such as media
events, press releases, publicity and public education activities, EAA
publications and its website.
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Publication of inquiry hearing results

To facilitate concerned parties to ascertain the results of the inquiry
hearings conducted by the Disciplinary Committee of the EAA
pursuant to powers under the EAO on disciplinary matters
concerning licensees or ex-licensees, and to educate both the estate
agency trade and the public, the EAA publishes inquiry hearing
results of the last two years on its website.

The EAA also publishes the reasons for disciplinary decisions on its
website. Not only does it ensure the transparency of the EAA's
work but also enables the estate agency trade to have a better
understanding of the EAA’s disciplinary decisions and equips them
with valuable learning on how to comply with the EAO and reduces
the risks of receiving similar complaints in future. In the long run, it
will make a substantial contribution to improving the professional
standard of the trade.

On the other hand, the publication of the reasons for decisions
provides a way for consumers to understand the EAA's disciplinary
decisions, and enables them to make informed choices when
engaging the services of licensees.

Independent Checks and Balances

External audit

The EAA's financial statements are subject to audit by an external
auditor. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu continued to be the EAA’s
external auditor in the financial year of 2017/18.

The main purpose of the external audit is to provide independent
assurance to the Board that the annual financial statements of the
EAA are fairly stated. The appointment of the EAA's external
auditor is subject to the approval of the Secretary for Transport and
Housing. The Independent Auditor’s Report and Financial
Statements of 2017/18 audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu are
included in pages 104 to 134.
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Appeals

Under the EAOQ, licensees or licence applicants may appeal against
the EAA's decisions concerning refusal to grant or renew a licence,
or its disciplinary sanctions by writing to the Secretary for Transport
and Housing.

The Secretary for Transport and Housing is required to appoint a
panel of persons for the purpose of hearing such appeals. The
appeals are determined by a tribunal, the members of which are
appointed by the Chairman of the panel from members of the
panel.

The Ombudsman'’s review

The EAA came under the jurisdiction of The Ombudsman on 2 July
2010. In the year of 2017/18, a total of four inquiries from The
Ombudsman were received. Three of them were closed and
unsubstantiated while one is outstanding.

Performance Pledges

As a responsible public body, the EAA has a set of performance
pledges for its services to the public and the attainment level of the
pledges is reviewed regularly. All sections of the EAA Administration
are responsible for maintaining effective internal controls to monitor
the achievement of our pledges to the public.

Achievement of the Performance Pledges in 2017/18

E#H Enquiries

BR % 51

Standard

e

EF o)
Response to enquiries

e THEMHEEFMR) .
e Telephone enquiries (voice mail messages) .
e EEEH .
e \Written enquiries ©

Service type

—fEAT{ERAT

I . 100%
Within one working day’
HEIERA?

I . 99.85%
Within seven working days?

! RERMTHERRES—ER-
2 RBIERRT ETERMGAE -

' The EAA’s working days are from Monday to Friday.
2 From the next working day following receipt of the enquiry.
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¥ 1% £+ Qualifying Examinations

AR5 % 5! EE

Standard Service type

ZHEM14EAITERA

Within 14 working days after the examination

BHAERME

Issue result slips'

100%

[ 8 Licensing
PR %5 %8 5! B EER
Standard Service type Results
BRI 5T e FR R 5 WEIFTER B R A 10 BT IERA? B.60
o (o)
Process new licence applications Within 10 working days for new applications?
P 4 i W B 4B b2 RS 12 Y 20l THER A 99.98%
o (o)
Process renewal licence applications Within 20 working days for renewal applications
R T R RS HUH R IR R e 0 B R 10 A TIERA 2
Refund of application fees for Within 10 working days? 100%
rejected/cancelled applications

# 37 & ¥ 7% Complaints and Enforcement

BR %5 3 5! BEE EER

Standard Service type Results
R R R R AR E KR RETERA 6
Acknowledge receipt of written complaints Within five working days °
W B & #0075 B 112 M IR EF AEH EHEE B 15 EIERA
Provide a written response to complainants Within 15 working days 100%
upon receipt of sufficient supporting °
documents

Issued by the Hong Kong Examinations and Assessment Authority, authorised by

| EEREZMESEHNTZELERERES - ERnKEES
BREBERANIRRHEDL -

the EAA to administer the examinations.
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From the next working day following the receipt of an application, the required
fee and documents to the day the licence/statement of particulars of business is
issued (i.e. the day the licence is available for collection). This service target does
not apply to applications which require the EAA Licensing Committee to determine
whether the applicant fulfills the “fit and proper” requirement and other licensing
requirements as prescribed under the EAO. A longer duration is needed for such
cases for the EAA to make enquiries and for the applicant or any third party (such
as the Official Receiver’s Office, trustees-in-bankruptcy or the Police) to respond
before the EAA approves or rejects the application.

From the next working day after an application is cancelled or rejected; for
bankruptcy cases, from the next working day following the receipt of instructions
from the Official Receiver’s Office or the trustee-in-bankruptcy.



W5 A Corporate Governance

B RTHBZHAETERER

Complete investigation of non-compliance cases by the Complaints and Enforcement Section

R (E % =EAR

(BEBEDHFEIT  FESEALR SR Within three calendar months

HiRRAERFENEZR)

Fast Track Cases 100%
(Cases involving no witnesses and concerning

allegation(s) of the Eight Specified Breaches

only)

LA ER ~ME A A

GERRERI R P R ZIRAIEHEEREZE) | Within six calendar months

Normal Cases (Cases other than Fast Track 97.94%
Cases concerning not more than two

allegations)

R AEES HERAA

(BrPRRER R EBEZRAIMIEZR) Within nine calendar months e
Complex Cases (Cases other than Fast track i
cases and Normal Cases)

BRI AL 10 B TIFRA 99.71%
Notify complainants of the outcome of the case | Within 10 working days '
BAREIRFA (FREA) AL 10 A ZERA

Notify complainees (licensees) of the outcome of | Within 10 working days 100%
the case

# {2 Disciplinary Proceedings

BR# 25! EE EER
Standard Service type Results
BITERLEMA TR FE &R0 EIERA
Conduct the first disciplinary inquiry hearing Within 90 working days after completion of 98.67%
of a case investigation

18 E ¥ {451 8l Continuing Professional Development (“CPD")

P %5 %8 51 BE EER
Standard Service type Results

TR R B R R R E BRI PR 20 TAERA
Process applications for endorsement of Within 20 working days 100%
CPD activities

B HEEE] TAMEERBRNFE 301E THERA
FEEEEIHFFRA Within 30 working days
Issue certificates of attendance for
EAA-organised CPD activities

100%
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HEEET
Organisation and People

AR

Organisation structure

ITBEAR
Chief Executive Officer

HERELRREE i g . e
Director of Operations & . ~ Director of ;:rvi e
Professional Development
Y B 1T B3 FEREBREH BRENL EERNER
—‘Com Iaxints 2 EnfoErlcement —® Legal Services & Corporate Communications/
P Examination Board Secretariat
® BXERR ® fERMTEER BA TG R ATICER
Professional Development Disciplinary Proceedings Finance & Administration
L o [ R D BB R BIR DT ED
Licensing IT & Data Analysis
AN EIRED
Human Resources
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BMERLITHE IR
Non-directorate staff establishment

BREE R
Senior Manager/ | -
Legal Counsel sz

A AEENE _ i B, Manager
Driver/ s e
Clerical Assistant ¢

BrEsE
Assistant
Manager

WEERE
Investigator

BN E{E
Assistant
Officer

PARE THEE FitBE
Personal Secretary/
Administrative Assistant/
Accounting Assistant
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&2 @ Management team

1. TTHBUERGEDDE R+ 6. ITEIHEIRRRBILE 1. EEERRENTE
Ms Ruby HON Mr Alan LEUNG Mr YK LEUNG
Chief Executive Officer Manager (Enforcement) Legal Counsel
2. RE AR EEREBL T 7. RIS 4REE TR S 12. EESBREAMEESSELLT
Ms Juliet LEUNG Mr lvan WONG Ms Susanna KO
Director of Regulatory Affairs and General Director of Services Manager (Legal Services and Examination)
Counsel
8. HMBRITBHMEEERERS LT 13. EARRERBESTHEENRRESE
3. HITREEBRREESTRELL Ms Wendy POON Mr LAM Ka Man
Ms Annie FONDA Manager (Finance and Administration) Manager (IT and Data Analysis)
Director of Operations and Professional Y
Development 9. BRERABBEIERLMEE
Mr CHAN U Keng
4. MR IR IB M E L+ Head (Complaints and Enforcement) .
Ms Ivy LEE
Man\;yger (Licensing) 10. BERRICIBREGEL L
Ms Maggie TANG
5.  HBEAISREERZ L Manager (Professional Development)
Ms Anissa CHENG
Manager (Corporate Communications)
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Staffing and remuneration

Staffing

The Estate Agents Authority (“"EAA") is led by the Chief Executive
Officer (“CEO") who is responsible for managing the business of
the EAA, and monitoring and supervising compliance with the
Estate Agents Ordinance. As at 31 March 2018, the staff
establishment was 99. The percentage of employees with disabilities
was 1%. The staff turnover rate for 2017/18 was 11%.

Remuneration

The EAA regularly reviews its remuneration policy and practices to
ensure that its remuneration packages are in line with the market
trends, so as to maintain competitiveness in attracting and retaining
talent. An independent consultant was commissioned to conduct a
pay level and pay trend survey during the year. The pay ranges were
revised in line with the market and the 2018 annual performance-
linked pay adjustment also drew reference from the
recommendations of the consultant.

Remuneration of CEO and Directors during the year

AEESTN FITBAHMBE 2 M T

The total remuneration' of the CEO and directors? during the year was as follows:

AE

Number of
individuals

&7 1,000,000 7T below $1,000,000 2
1,500,001-2,000,000 7T $1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1
3,500,001-4,000,000 7T $3,500,001 to $4,000,000 1
By Total 4

! BEHFHRMNEBEFAINOFSE
Bwyge (WEm) -
2 HAmuRERENFRERDRAEA -

KM & RIR R I

! Total remuneration includes salary, contract-end gratuity and performance-
linked pay, if applicable, paid during the year.

2 Two of the current directors had taken up the positions for less than six months
during the year.
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Training and communication

Staff training and development

With rising public expectations on the accountability and
transparency of public organisations, the EAA needs to ensure that
its staff are equipped with the necessary competencies to discharge
their duties, respond to the community’s evolving needs, and
achieve consistently high levels of performance. As part of its
human resources strategy, the EAA is committed to providing
various kinds of resources, including in-house workshops, external
training programmes and training sponsorship, to support its staff’s
career development and enhance their professional skills and
competencies.

Being employees of a public body, EAA staff should have a high
level of awareness on corruption prevention and flawless integrity.
For this purpose, a talk by the Independent Commission Against
Corruption (“ICAC”) on "Corruption Prevention” was organised for
staff who have not attended the seminars conducted by the ICAC
and for staff who would like to refresh their knowledge.

As EAA staff need to deal with different stakeholders/working
partners every day, the ability to structure and present ideas
persuasively is critical for success. To enhance staff ability in
expressing their opinion and standpoints as well as giving
appropriate responses under time pressure, a workshop on
“Winning Presentation Skills” was organised for all staff during the
year.

Staff were provided with sponsorship for attending their self-
initiated job-related programmes to enhance their knowledge at
work and to meet individual career development goals.

All these training activities aim to enhance the professional
knowledge and skills of EAA staff, to develop their full potential
and to prepare them for greater challenges and achievements
ahead.
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Communication

The EAA reinforces communication among staff through different
channels, including regular meetings among management staff and
sectional meetings, horizontally to ensure transparency and
understanding of the work of different sections and vertically to
convey direction to different rankings of staff. The senior
management further regularly reaches out to staff through various
communication sessions, such as the CEQ’s Forum and sectional
briefing sessions to share the latest message and direction from the
senior management on matters such as the EAA’s corporate plan,
the pay adjustment mechanism, and organisational changes, as well
as to provide a platform for staff to share their views.

In addition, the EAA has formed a staff committee with members
comprised of each rank of staff through elections among the
respective rank of staff. This year the EAA strengthened staff
communication through increasing the frequency of meetings from
semi-annually to quarterly.

To foster team spirit, informal gatherings such as staff outings and
an annual Christmas party were arranged during the year.

To share the joy of the EAA’s 20" anniversary with our staff, the
EAA organised a staff activity on “EAA 20" Anniversary Slogan
Design Competition” for our staff to participate in the celebration.
The winning slogan was officially used for the 20™ anniversary

promotional materials.

EF‘%F?WE‘E‘%??T%:FEI
B EEERRE A B

PE‘%%%%W o

The EAA arranged informal staff

gatherings during the year, an

annual Christmas party was held

to foster team spirit.
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ATRABIUHHEENE T EEREETM:# To increase colleagues’ health awareness, the EAA invited a
TR EEEAL AT A S T 1T [B28 KR R a2ae)EE) | registered nurse and fitness trainer to conduct a “Body Check and
I{’Eﬁi cHMELTAETIEEEEES - MEEEAL Physical Activity” Workshop for EAA staff. The registered nurse
EMHRET —ERFI0DENRAZES - measured everyone's health index and the fitness trainer introduced

a 10-minute exercise which could also be performed in the

workplace.

EERBATAMEL REBHEEMABTH
77 e iR K B8R IEEY ] TR ©
The EAA invited a registered nurse and fitness
trainer to conduct a “Body Check and Physical
Activity” Workshop for EAA staff.

HERETHEE Corporate and staff awards

HigRE Corporate awards

EEREECFEEETeREHMeEE [FELE  The EAA received the Caring Organisation logo for the third

BEIZES  URBABEIBEEAR] - [BEBTI] consecutive year presented by The Hong Kong Council of Social

kIBEERE| FEGENER - Service in recognition of its commitment and contribution to
“Caring for the Community”, “Caring for the Employees” and
“Caring for the Environment”.

EERREHANEREBEIBEIAIAAL  The EAA was also acknowledged as a “Manpower Developer”
2| REBRAFEAAIEIIREEFENEHERIE - again by the Employees Retraining Board for its outstanding

achievements in manpower training and development.

canngcompany '''' caringorganisation = HKCSS

EEREA-FEEEMEREBERE [RLORBE]F

£

The EAA received the Caring Organisation logo for the third
consecutive year presented by The Hong Kong Council of
Social Service.
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Staff awards

An Officer of the Complaints and Enforcement Section and a Senior
Clerk of the Licensing Section received “The Ombudsman’s Award
2017" for "Officers of Public Organisations” in recognition of their
professional and positive attitude in serving the public and handling
complaints and enquiries. This was the third consecutive year that
EAA staff have received the awards.

Financial Review

Income and expenditure

For the year under review, the EAA reported a surplus of $7.1
million (as compared to a surplus of $6.4 million last year). Income
for the year under review was $87.7 million, an increase of $4.2
million or 5.0% over the previous year. Expenditure for the year
was $80.6 million, an increase of $3.4 million or 4.5% compared to
last year.

Income

Licence fee income, contributing 88% of the total income, was
$77.3 million, representing an increase of $1.8 million or 2.3% over
the previous year. The increase was mainly due to a growth in the
number of licensees during the year. Examination fee income was
$8.2 million, representing an increase of $2.0 million or 32.9% over
the previous year, due to an increase in the number of candidates
that registered for the examinations and the examination held for
the second session of the scheme on the mutual recognition of
professional qualifications between Hong Kong and Mainland
estate agents in the current year. Interest income was $2.2 million,
representing an increase of $0.3 million or 18.6% over the previous
year, due to higher time deposits interest rates offered by banks.

2016/17

2015/16

B 7258 % Licence fees Il =5 Examination fees I FIEUEA Interest income

WEREBEER «2017/18 F3}
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Expenditure

Staff costs and office premises & related expenses were two major
expenditure items, accounting for about 65.5% and 14.4% of our
total expenditures respectively. Expenditure items that saw major
increases in dollar amount were staff costs, service fees for
examinations, publicity and advertising, training activity expenses,
and equipment maintenance and communication expenses.
Expenditure items that saw major decreases were depreciation,
community education expenses, and office accommodation and
related expenses.

2016/17

2015/16

B B IARA Staff costs B RAERARMX BN it Others
Office premises and

related expenses

Acquisition of office premises

As at 31 March 2018, the deposit and stamp duty of $13 million
was paid for the acquisition of new office premises with two car
parking spaces (“the Property”) in Chai Wan to accommodate some
of the EAA’s staff while the rest would remain in the existing rental
office at Wanchai with reduced floor area. Subsequent to the
financial year ended 31 March 2018, the purchase transaction of
the Property at $70 million was completed on 12 April 2018.




TEMEET

EERBNBEEHEEERBABEEES -
AHBRFEZRELER - SHHLR  RERTHE
SHETECEHGRETERE  YERNAZERBM
BREBRRREBGT BRFFE/IERBREAN
RUECRHEEME  AHEEBEERKENE S -

SHREEEE

AUEBEUBRUGLARENAL EERD
NEHEBRRSMBRNBHED (BF 2%
R AEEFA - RETEFIRBS)UARE

ERPED) -

BERE

EMEBE

EERAABLERHZPETRML - £ RHMEA
MEtET  BEELEARERIRANERALETE
HLMEERTIELR - BBRE - BT
BB — P ERER -

LA S AT IS P The EAA Administration

Corporate Social Responsibility

The EAA is committed to integrating corporate social responsibility
("CSR") principles into our daily operations and contributing to the
sustainable development of the community. Key CSR aspects such
as community, environment and workplace, are integrated into all
our operational decisions and practices. Maintaining good CSR
practices that align with our role as a statutory body involves
everyone at the EAA.

Charity participation

To show our care to the underprivileged and those in need, the
EAA supported various fund-raising activities (e.g. Dress Casual Day,
Love Teeth Day, Skip Lunch Day, etc.) and an elderly visit organised
by the Hong Kong Community Chest.

RABSIHBEREE LAFTENA
T EEREIBRSEFTEAGEM
BROETED(EE: RunERA
) BERMCEMERE-

To show our care to the underprivileged
and those in need, the EAA staff actively
participated various fund-raising activities
organised by the Hong Kong Community
Chest (e.g. Dress Casual Day etc.) to
maintain corporate social responsibility.

Youth development

Summer internship programme

The EAA offered internship placements to university students in the
summer. During the 2-month programme, the interns had the
opportunity to interact with different professionals and get hands-
on working experience. The supervisors also gained experience in
coaching the new generation.
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15 Environment

ERMAKE—ABREE  WAB THEERRE The EAA strives to operate as an environmentally friendly
S o MR T ZIEG I AEE - B3EIEM  organisation and promotes the same to its staff. Green office
EHRIWEEmMIR AR AEEEF BT MUY measures adopted include provision of designated trays to collect
HRLERDE  URFEAFESRRERMEIRIALFR  one-side printed paper for reuse; recycling of paper and toner
o cartridges; and use of environmentally friendly printing paper, etc.

B S

&

FR - EERIMZERNDIREEE) - HI0[TE - 1]  The EAA also participated in several environmental initiatives during
LR [EAEASRE] R [ —/ ] &£ the year, e.g. Biz-green Dress Day, Hong Kong No Air Con Night

and Earth Hour.

EERMIMEIHERRES
RERNZ2EANDERREE  § A0
T - 80) L3R -

The EAA strives to promote
environmentally friendly ideas to its
staff and participated in several
environmental initiatives during the
year, e.g. Biz-green Dress Day.

BB Information Technology

BBt R #iE1L Automation and digitisation

BELBN2015EFES| ABEFHRERBE - A Individual licensees could choose to renew their licenses online after
MERIEAEANTANE EXERBEHRE o 1178 - &  the introduction of e-application in late 2015. Since then, the
IBERBEEN TERRESDNE - HELBEAMZE  workflows for handling renewal applications have been improved
HEBZER ARBEBAZHKDOAFERIEE  and consequently certain applications could be processed with less
oA BRPHET THFNERBRESRKFEHRLEE manpower resources compared to the paper-based ones. Besides,
sTE o A E X RET M IFEEEE we have also started scanning new licence application forms as a

pilot scheme for better storage and retrieval of records.
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MEBEEENRSR Integrated management information system

SEAEBEATERSRET AN OIRERS - 8  The integrated management information system (“IMIS”) which is

2015 EEZAGBIELAR - —HEBIERLT o JkE %L the core operation system of the EAA has operated smoothly since

BREE BT ANRBHAESEINF 2 EEIENL  its launch in late 2015. The system ensures the processing and

DEBH - BN WEFGRNETRBEFEDREZ - g2 sharing of information among different sections of the EAA

ERERRERN —BIEME M - effectively and efficiently. Moreover, with different validation
checkpoints built-in, the system could also assure the consistency
and integrity of the data captured in the system.

Mxzz Cyber security

EERAIEMERERERINE - EERTEMH  With the ever increasing threat of cyber-attacks and data leakage,

SHRLZTFEM2E  MERABERTSERNIE  the EAA has constantly reviewed its security platform and

A DA BERETRRAN © parameters to ensure that they are on a par with the industry
practice and up-to-date.
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Events and Activities

SREABEE  BUABRFRGTERAERRMN D T
Ao BE (S RERE) R0 ML MERTER

N3-S

Held meeting with trade associations to brief them
on the proposed amendment by the Government on
the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist

Financing (Financial Institutions) Ordinance

6/2017

HEAFEEMEGMEBEMEEMELLAZEEILR
FRIAMEEBMERIBEZERERTE ([ ER
T BB E

Renewal agreement on the mutual recognition of
professional qualifications for estate agents of the

Mainland and Hong Kong signed with the China
Institute of Real Estate Appraisers and Agents in Beijing

l’giﬂﬁfﬂ!i‘:ﬁzak%ﬁ%ﬂ?‘{fﬁ
D | siEs] Pih! FETVE =

=]
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— 5/2017

2 MIFCGER 2L AR BEERER) HR

New booklet Tenancy Guide for Non-local Students
in Hong Kong published

R MERBREEREFNEERE] SERFMR

Certificate presentation ceremony of "EAA’s
Certificate Programme in Practice” held




= 7/2017

BEERBAEEeRKRE

Delegation from Legal Education Fund received

EEReREN  @EE2017F FEFHITIERBEN
THEENTIEEL,

The EAA met the press to review its work in the first
half of 2017 and introduced its initiatives for the
second half

G 0] B Events and Activities

= 8/2017

BRERERE — FIEWENEBELMEE]
RSB S SIS E E

CPD seminar on “Practice Circular — Sale and Purchase
or Leasing of Non-residential Properties” held

= 9/2017

BWER [REEE RHHEE | AFHERE

Public Seminar on “Be Smart in Non-residential
Property Transactions” held

[ s

S Va.‘.-w;:-.;;

§P 90

BEIELT . apnpgm

= 10/2017

BEEEEMEMNEELHE | WA EBS (H5
17-02(CR)) 43K
Practice Circular (No.17-02(CR)) on “Sale and

Purchase or Leasing of Non-residential Properties”
became effective

EEREREREEETS

An overhaul of the EAA’s CPD Scheme conducted

EERMEE
THEBHE R
FH B RAF

8]

Two EAA staff
awarded The
Ombudsman’s
Award

WEREBEER «2017/18 F3}
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Events and Activities

1172017

Ehh\ EREEE R [
ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY

—t+tRAEBEMAES
20th Anniversary Cocktail Reception

BETEERKM20AFEMNBS B4
i ERIR R N E Lt B R g

Cocktail reception celebrating the
EAA’s 20th Anniversary cum prize
presentation ceremony of the
1% BS Outstanding Estate Agent Award and

oo decl Micro Movie Competition held

"
ANNIVERSARY u

EREHEMRBRFIEAEHSESSEETNAIER
Wayne Thorburn 5t 4

Mr Wayne Thorburn, Director and former President of
Association of Real Estate License Law Officials
Foundation received

BT MERBEEREBEERE(E_H) &
BIREIE

Certificate presentation ceremony of “EAA’s Certificate
Programme in Practice (Second Series)” held

12/2017

EIRERTERFEIFIIRERER

Training courses and examination of the mutual
recognition scheme held in Zhuhai

BH AR HETERINORERDE | OREBRE (R
% 17-03(CR))

Practice Circular (No.17-03(CR)) on “Sale of Uncompleted
Properties Situated Outside Hong Kong” issued
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= 1/2018

EERERMERK  EIE2017 FHITIERBT2018F
B TIEER

The EAA met the press to review its work in 2017 and
introduced its initiatives for 2018

e B R B E B R
ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY

BRER BERRE — HETBEINRERYE]
GOESTHEE S350

CPD seminar on “Practice Circular — Sale of Uncompleted
Properties Situated Outside Hong Kong” held

= 2/2018

EETPEFEHEGEMESMELLCAZERRE

Delegation of China Institute of Real Estate Appraisers
and Agents received

BREERFERTES

Chinese New Year media luncheon held

~ 3/2018

BWER BINEXRSEE | NFHEE

Public Seminar on “Points to Note on Purchasing Properties
Situated outside Hong Kong” held

[EREMEREEETRABLIRAMD FERERR
FERHES] | R BE (AR5% 18-01(CR)) £

Practice Circular (No.18-01(CR)) on “Guidelines on
Compliance of Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-

Terrorist Financing Requirements for the Estate Agency

Sector” became effective

WEREBEER «2017/18 F3}
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Events and Activities
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Highlights of the EAA’s 20"
Anniversary

The year of 2017 marked the 20" anniversary of the enactment of
the Estate Agents Ordinance and the establishment of the EAA. A
series of events were held to celebrate this special occasion with the
licensees and other EAA’s stakeholders.

Outstanding Estate Agent Award

To further promote the professionalism of the estate agency trade
and recognise the achievement of outstanding practitioners in the
industry, the EAA introduced the Outstanding Estate Agent Award
on its 20" anniversary, which also served as a platform for industry
exchange and professionalism enhancement.

A total of 15 representatives from academia, statutory bodies and
professional institutes related to the real estate sector were invited
to form the Preliminary Selection Panel for the Award, while five
other judges including Dr William Leung Wing-cheung, SBS, JP,
Chairman of the EAA; Ms Elaine Liu Yuk-ling, JP, Vice-chairman of
the EAA; Ms Gilly Wong Fung-han, EAA member and Chief
Executive of Consumer Council, Mr Philip Chan Kwan-yee, JP,
Director of Sales of First-hand Residential Properties Authority; and
Professor Michael Hui King-man, Choh-ming Li Professor of
Marketing of the Chinese University of Hong Kong, formed the
Final Selection Panel.

About 100 applications were received. Judges from the Preliminary
Selection Panel evaluated the applications based on four criteria,
namely, level of responsibility, level of integrity, service excellence
and positiveness. Eight and six candidates were respectively
shortlisted for the Outstanding Estate Agent Award category and
the Outstanding Newcomer Award category. Final interviews were
conducted by the Final Selection Panel to select the awardees.

Ms Lily Shum was awarded the winner of the Outstanding Estate
Agent Award, while Mr Tony Kwok and Dr Joseph Lau, both with
over 20 years’ experience in the industry, garnered the Outstanding
Trade Contribution Award and the Outstanding Business Philosophy
Award respectively. For the category of Outstanding Newcomer
Award, Ms Candy Law, Mr Ackman Tsang, Mr Anton Chow and Mr
Sam Chin were awarded the Champion, first runner-up, second
runner-up and merit award respectively.
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G 0] B Events and Activities

Micro Movie Competition

To promote young people’s understanding of the estate agency
trade so as to build up their trust in the industry and enhance the
trade’s professional image, a Micro Movie Competition was also
organised by the EAA on the occasion of its 20" anniversary.

28 participants/teams submitted their shooting proposals based on
a choice of three themes, namely, “Acquiring a Dream Home with
Your Devotion”, “Finding the Right Middleman” and “Integrity,
Home, Estate Agents”. A judging panel consisted of EAA members
and representatives from the real estate sector, filming sector and
academia was formed to score the qualified applications. Eight
participants/teams were shortlisted to produce their micro movies
with a shooting subsidy funded by the EAA to compete for the
awards. EAA members who are experienced industry practitioners
were also invited to coach these shortlisted participants/teams in
order to increase their understanding of the estate agency industry.

The EAA 20™ Anniversary Micro Movie Competition was won by
“Artillery Production”, a team of students from The Open University
of Hong Kong. Based on the theme of “Finding the Right
Middleman”, their award winning micro-movie titled “Warm Place”
is a story about an estate agent helping a granny to search for a
new home and reconnect with her son. All the awarded micro-
movies were uploaded to the EAA’s YouTube channel for public
viewing.

Cocktail reception

A cocktail reception was held on 2 November 2017 at the Hong
Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre to celebrate the EAA’s 20™
anniversary of establishment. The cocktail reception was officiated
by Dr Raymond So Wai-man, BBS, JP, the Under Secretary for
Transport and Housing and Dr William Leung Wing-cheung, SBS,
JP, Chairman of the EAA. Around 300 guests attended the cocktail
reception, including current and former EAA Board members and
Board-appointed members, members of the Legislative Council, and
representatives of Government departments, estate agency trade
associations, public bodies, tertiary and training institutions and the
Council for Estate Agencies of Singapore. Display panels were
exhibited at the venue to present the EAA's key milestones in the
past 20 years. The results of the Outstanding Estate Agent Award
and the Micro Movie Competition were also announced at the
cocktail reception and the awards were presented to the winners.
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BREA Qualifying Examinations

BBEENERESR  REIERBUANEMERE  Passing the relevant qualifying examination is one of the

TEMES —EREH - EERBRIEMMIBEE  prerequisites for obtaining a licence to practise in the estate agency

wES DRlA: (VERBEREZEANLG)EEE  industry. Currently, the Estate Agents Authority (“EAA") offers two

BRES UG EEMAMERBENATESL  types of qualifying examinations, namely: (i) the Estate Agents

BEEAERIBEREAER &N o Qualifying Examination (“EAQE") and (ii) the Salespersons
Qualifying Examination (“SQE") to assess whether persons who
wish to enter the trade do possess the requisite knowledge to
provide estate agency services.

AR EREEREZEANEZLEAEZWERIE (A A candidate who passes the EAQE may apply for either an estate

AN)BRRSKE X B MBRASEEEREZHME  agent's licence (individual) or a salesperson’s licence. A candidate

HRMEREREEE X B - who passes the SQE can apply for a salesperson'’s licence only.

BEREARBBEARTXZBERREE DL - The qualifying examinations are administered by the Hong Kong
Examinations and Assessment Authority on behalf of the EAA.

>

EEREMREREANTEBEBALRED B RHMERERS
FTRE B9 ANGE; o

The EAA organises qualifying examinations to assess whether
persons possess the requisite knowledge to provide estate agency
services.

WEREBEREAEEXEEREANLER
A comparison of the EAQE and SQE:

wEREBEERES EXEEREH
EAQE SQE
R BFAR BFOR
Frequency 4 times a year 6 times a year
e 3/ 2N\ 30082
Examination Time 3 hours 2 hours 30 minutes
HABEHA £—51n : 30{5BLHRE E—E17  401EBI AR
Number of Questions Part 1: 30 stand-alone questions Part 1: 40 stand-alone questions
F 80 : 20FFB (KB —EMEERAT) F80  106GFE (KE—EMEERI)
Part 2: 20 questions based on one or two case Part 2: 10 questions based on one or two case
studies studies
i ZIEEER
Format Multiple-choice questions
AR H BHARIFEL60%
Pass Mark At least 60% of correct answers in each part
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wEREERER

Estate Agents Qualifying Examination

R THE B i Advance in Gatekeeping

The qualifying examinations comprise two parts — one consisting
of stand-alone questions and the other of questions on case studies.
Candidates are required to pass both parts in order to pass the
examination.

Part 1 of the examination is intended to test candidates’ knowledge
of various parts of the syllabi of the EAQE and SQE while Part 2 is
intended to test in an integrated way the practical knowledge
expected of estate agents or salespersons.

Updated regulations

To ensure the integrity of examinations, the EAA implemented a
qualifying examination retake policy effective from the October
2017. Under the new policy, certain persons specified in the
examination regulations would not be allowed to register or sit for
the examinations.

Number of candidates

A total of 5,668 candidates registered for the EAQE and 8,037
candidates registered for the SQE in 2017/18, representing an
increase of about 21.4% and 21.8% respectively over those of the
previous year.

Compared to that in 2016/17, the number of candidates actually
sitting the EAQE increased by about 21.2% to 5,103 and in the
case of the SQE it also increased by about 24.5% to 7,078.

In 2017/18, the average pass rate for the EAQE and SQE were
27.8% and 36.8% respectively, as against 38.0% and 38.6%
respectively in 2016/17.

EREERER

Salespersons Qualifying Examination

0/
2016/17 REEANA) 4210
0,
2017/18 GRS 5,103

0,
2015/16 45.5% 6,126
()
2016/17 RELEND 5,684
2017/18 [RELEIA

7,078

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000 5,000 6,000 7,000

A& K Pass rate 24 A8 Number of examination candidates

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000 5000 6,000 7,000 8000
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EZHEBRF Educational background of candidates
TE201718EERELEEEREZANEZL D - B In 2017/18, the percentage of candidates registered for the SQE
BARES N FEFOLXRLE30% @ 2 ERIE who were of tertiary or above educational level was about 30%,
EigEs BBARESN A FEBFEREZ AR A and that for the EAQE was about 47%, as compared to 29% and
47% » T2016/17E E W kL X Bl 5 Bl 529% & 47% respectively in 2016/17. Generally, candidates with higher
47% o — R KRG - BRERSHEEFTZERAKLEL  educational qualifications scored higher marks than those
BRFLENZEEES candidates with lower educational qualifications.

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

REEE BEZ4E HREEZE
2R th = Ak b= AkE b= Ak
Education % of = % of ST % of -
) Pass rate X LEEY G X Pass rate
Level registered registered registered
candidates candidates candidates
Hmh
E5 30.5% 24.6% 27.3% 26.2% 26.4% 20.8%
N
A E i’gjzi 8.0% 26.8% 8.0% 29.5% 8.1% 22.1%
6orF.
BiEER
A E
EAQE . Tgﬁ Ab 412% 34.6% 46.7% 40.1% 47.0% 27.9%
ertiary or above
BRAG
Uﬁf " 20.3% 31.7% 18.0% 33.7% 18.5% 25.1%
nknown
Fh
Fo 37.8% 35.4% 37.2% 29.5% 36.7% 28.4%
J B+
wug Ei’G\jzi 19.1% 35.8% 17.3% 29.0% 16.2% 27.4%
& 6orF.
BREH o
Hal Ak
SQE _ A 27.8% 49.4% 29.4% 40.5% 30.5% 39.7%
ertiary or above
BRAEE
Uiliemin 15.3% 36.2% 16.1% 33.1% 16.6% 32.9%
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ZENBESS Occupational background of candidates
EEERTATEBERRAZSTESEMAT  B81FZ  Candidates included students and people from a wide range of
ERBE  WESE BT @ RIEE - BXL  occupational backgrounds, including the retail and wholesale

MEREZEHMALTHE47% © business, property management, banking, accounting, and
investment. About 47% of the candidates sat the examination for
the first time.

WEREERZSH

Estate Agents Qualifying Examination

20.1%

| i ENRIEE Estate agency trade
(0)
15% m B s/ RA

Banking/accounting/investment

T /Y13 Retail / wholesale business
YIEEEIE Property management

#4E A2 Construction/surveying
{RB& Insurance

24 Students

A /&M% Education/social service
JE S /%88 Hotel/ catering

BRI Unknown

Hfth Others

EXRIEREA

Salespersons Qualifying Examination

15.3%

W T /3 Retail / wholesale business
17.9%

I ¥%E® Property management

24 Students

BT/ &t RE

Banking/accounting/investment

{RB& Insurance

IS8R Hotel / catering
5,/ @ BR#% Education/social service

BB &S Salesperson-trainee

#2812 Construction /surveying

ERAFE Unknown

HHb Others
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70

ZESMEFHNRE

Number of attempts at examinations

HwEREBEERER

Estate Agents Qualifying Examination

0% 10% 20% 30% 40%

50%

ERBEREHA

Salespersons Qualifying Examination

30%

0% 10% 20% 40% 50%

B IXE First attempt ‘ 2 ZIRFEZ Second attempt ‘ =R A EFEZ Third attempt or above

BRAEE Unknown
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Preparing for computer-based examinations
With a view to enhancing the EAA’s image by keeping pace with
the modern era and increasing the efficiency of the existing
examination operation, the EAA explored in the year the feasibility
of providing the qualifying examinations in a computer-based
examination (“CBE") format.

The EAA plans to introduce CBE to SQE first, while the conventional
paper-based examination (“PBE”) would continue to be available
for both SQE and EAQE before the full implementation of
computerised examinations.

A formal procurement exercise was conducted for the appointment
of a service provider for administering the qualifying examinations
in both CBE and PBE formats, as well as providing an online
registration service. The EAA aims to implement the CBE in SQE in
mid-2019.
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Licensing

Licensing Regime

As stipulated in the Estate Agents Ordinance (“EAO”) and subject
to certain exceptions, any person practising estate agency work in
the course of business in Hong Kong must hold a valid licence.
Failure to do so is an offence.

There are two types of licences, namely, salesperson’s licence and
estate agent’s licence. A salesperson’s licence may only be granted
to an individual while an estate agent’s licence may be granted
either to an individual or a company.

The major difference between an estate agent’s licence and a
salesperson’s licence is that a person holding an estate agent’s
licence may perform estate agency work either for a licensed estate
agent or in his capacity as a sole proprietor, a partner of a
partnership, or a director of a company holding an estate agent’s
licence. He may also be appointed as a manager of an office of an
estate agency business responsible for its effective and separate
control'. However, a person holding a salesperson’s licence may
only perform estate agency work for a licensed estate agent.

Before operating an estate agency business at a particular place of
business using a particular business name, an estate agent is
required to apply for a statement of particulars of business
(“SPOB").

To be granted an estate agent’s licence or a salesperson’s licence,
an individual must fulfill the following requirements:

o having attained the age of 18 years;

o having completed an educational level of Form Five of
secondary education or its equivalent;

o having passed the relevant qualifying examination?; and

o having been considered by the EAA a “fit and proper”
person.

! Section 38 of the EAO requires each office of an estate agency business to be
under the effective and separate control of a manager who must be a holder of
an estate agent’s licence.

2 The qualifying examination must have been passed within 12 months
immediately before the date of an application for the grant of a licence.
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BEHF
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NEE - BEE B 3,380 1857 2 B A E A SRR -
B EFFRD48% °

During the year, the EAA granted 3,380 new individual
licences, a decrease of 4.8% compared to that of the
last year.

Licensing Figures

As at 31 March 2018, the total number of individual licences
reached a record high of 38,687, an increase of 3.5% over that of
the previous year. Among the 38,687 individual licences, 20,933
were salesperson’s licences and 17,754 were estate agent’s licences
(individual).

The number of company licences and SPOBs also reached new
heights, respectively at 3,624 and 6,849, representing an increase
of 6.2% and 4.2% over those of 31 March 2017.

In 2017/18, the EAA granted 3,380 new individual licences, a
decrease of 4.8% compared to that of the last year.

Number of Licences and SPOBs in the Past Three Years

HEBRR()
40,000 alespersons licence (i)
t HE ( BR(if)
37.363 Estate agents Ilcence
|nd|V|duaI) ii)
30,000
E/\%‘?EE@%@%Z (i)
Total number of |nd|V|duaI
Ilcences (i) + (i)
b Estate agents Ilcence
17,133 W | (company)
EEFBRAE
10,000 ///k 5POBs
o €&

31/3/2016
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BE=ZFHAHOEARREE

New Licences (Individual) Granted in the Past Three Years

4% Total EHEBR
4,000 4221 Total 3,549 ﬁg‘%gg' Salesperson’s licence
e y I
3,278 SERE (EA) F2R
Estate agent’s licence
(individual)
3,000
2,000
1,000
0
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
BAFBRANE S
Background of Individual Licensees
FEAWEEKF (B£20185F3 A31H)
Educational Level of Licensees (as at 31/3/2018)
100% ‘ PR
Below F.5
90% i
TERK R R sk AL R S 2
0% 73.4% | e
70% e ESITn
Tertiary or above
60% 54.8%
0
50% 40.6%
40% 32.1%
30%
20%
10% 4.6%
0%
AR (B A RS A EEBMREEEA e
Holders of estate agent’s Holders of salesperson’s Overall
licence (individual) licence
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FEANSR(BE2018563 A31H)
Age of Licensees (as at 31/3/2018)

AR (EA) R
40% FAEA
Holders of estate agent’s
36% licence (individual)
|
32% BEEMBRAEA
Holders of salesperson’s
28% 26.8% licence
26.5% < g
24% 248%  266% Overall
20%
16%
12%
8% 7.4% §
4.7%
4% 42%
0% 1.1%
<26 26 - 35 36 - 45 46 - 55 56 - 65 >65
FRAFEENBMZES (BE£2018F3A31H)
Licensees’ Choice of Language in Communication (as at 31/3/2018)
100% 94.4% 91.1% X
87.2% Chinese
90%
HX
80% . English
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
i 8.9%
10% 5.6%
0% . il -
ERIE (EA)BRIEE A EEBEREEAA 2
Holders of estate agent’s Holders of salesperson’s Overall

licence (individual) licence

74 ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY e Annual Report 2017/18



R THE B i Advance in Gatekeeping

HhERIE R E RN Operations of Estate Agency Business
KZEHMEREBN/ ) EEMNELE - H{Z20184F  Most of the estate agencies are small scale operators. As at 31
3A31H 95.1% & EQME—TE/ES - ME  March 2018, 95.1% of agencies operated as single-shop businesses
R E AREMH A EMREDR1% - and less than 1% had five or more shops.

REFBNEEENX (BE£2018F3A31H)
Mode of Operation of Estate Agency Businesses (as at 31/3/2018)

6,000 BEHBRAETER

m Total SPOBs
W 6,849

4,000
3,000
2,000 [ 1,618
o 201
0 ||
BRARKE ARRE BEKLE
Limited companies* Partnerships Sole proprietorships

* 3,624 (AR AR AL
* Operated by 3,624 company licensees

REXEENHAE(BZ£2018F3 A31H)
Size of Operation of Estate Agency Businesses (as at 31/3/2018)

JEHEA *
Number of
shops*
rexE
Operator
33 13

AR A A4 Limited companies 3,415 136 19 2 1 5
A B 484 Partnerships 186 4 1 1 0 0 0 0
B & #5 & Sole proprietorships 1,506 43 4 0 2 0 0 0

/&t Sub-total | 5,107 183 38 14 21 2 1 5

* B ERIEHAE
* j.e. SPOBs
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Failure to Meet the Licensing Requirements
As mentioned above, a licence applicant must have fulfilled certain
requirements in order to be granted a licence. If the EAA finds that
a licence applicant has failed to meet any of the licensing
requirements, his/her licence application will be refused. In 2017/18,
a total of 121 applications were refused for different reasons, such
as applicants not having the required educational qualifications or
not being considered “fit and proper” persons to be granted, hold
or continue to hold a licence.

Even if a licence has been granted, a licensee’s licence may be
revoked if he/she is no longer eligible to continue to hold a licence.
During the year, a total of 30 licences were revoked by the
Licensing Committee because the relevant licensees no longer met
the licensing requirements.

Actions Taken Against Licensees by the Licensing Committee

17853 Types of Actions

76

TERE R B N {644 Attachment of conditions to licence

R P §5 2 R Suspension of licence

B4 2 FR Revocation of licence

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
123 104 97

0 1 1

56 29 30
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Online Renewal of Licence Application

Individual licensees who have registered an e-service account at the
EAA’s website may submit their licence renewal applications online.
During the year, among the 28,193 renewal applications received
from individual licensees, 22.6% (i.e. 6,367 renewal applications)
were submitted online.

Scheme on Mutual Recognition of
Professional Qualifications of Estate Agents
in the Mainland and Hong Kong

As mentioned in the earlier part of this Report, with a view to
boosting professional exchanges between estate agency
practitioners in the Mainland and Hong Kong and the long-term
development of the trade of both sides, the EAA and the China
Institute of Real Estate Appraisers and Agents (“CIREA”) signed a
5-year agreement on 3 November 2010 to lay down the foundation
for the mutual recognition of professional qualifications of estate
agents in the Mainland and Hong Kong. Under the provisions of
the agreement, both sides will each nominate a certain number of
qualified estate agents to participate in a specially-designed training
course and examination organised by the other party within the
5-year agreement period. Upon completion of the said course and
successfully passing the examination, the nominees could apply for
the CIREA registration certificate or the EAA licence.

Following the signing of the renewal agreement for the mutual
recognition of professional qualifications between the EAA and the
CIREA in June 2017, the second training course and examination of
the scheme were held from 7 to 8 December 2017 in Zhuhai with
138 attendees from Hong Kong and 28 from the Mainland
respectively. All 166 participants passed the examination and were
eligible to apply for the qualification of the other party in 2018.

As at 31 March 2018, 123 Hong Kong estate agents held a
registration certificate issued by the CIREA and 33 Mainland estate
agents held an estate agent’s licence issued by the EAA under the
scheme.

The EAA will continue to liaise with the CIREA for the arrangement
of the next round of nomination.
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Ethics and Regulations

Introduction of regulations

The Estate Agents Authority (“EAA") reviews the practices of the
trade and issues practice circulars to provide guidelines and
directives on estate agency practice from time to time, to enable
licensees to comply with their duties under the law. In the year, four
circulars were issued.

With a view to providing further guidance for licensees handling
non-residential properties, the EAA issued a practice circular setting
out detailed guidelines on certain important issues pertaining to the
proper practice and measures in handling the sale and purchase or
leasing of non-residential properties. It covers such areas like floor
area information, permitted use, provision of information relating
to property, cocklofts and mezzanine floors, and uncompleted
building or uncompleted subdivision of any part of a building.
Separately, the EAA also issued a practice circular on “Application
of Circulars — Non-residential Properties” to clarify the scope of
application of certain circulars already issued by the EAA.

Issuance of practice circulars

In light of increasing public concern about purchasing properties
outside Hong Kong which is not within the regulatory regime of the
EAA, a practice circular for licensees participating in the sale of
uncompleted properties outside Hong Kong (“UPOH") was issued.
It sets out a series of guidelines for compliance by licensees
participating in the sale of UPOH, with a view to enhancing the
professional standard of the trade so as to provide consumers with
greater protection. The guidelines include requirements for licensees
to obtain a due diligence report on the vendor and the related
UPOH; to obtain a legal opinion on material information for foreign
purchasers according to the laws of the place where the UPOH are
situated; to obtain the vendor’s express endorsement in writing of
the accuracy and completeness of the information contained in
advertisements and promotional materials; and to provide
purchasers with a copy of the due diligence report and legal
opinion, a written warning statement and a sales information sheet
that contains all the necessary information required by the EAA.
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Subsequent to the passing of the Anti-Money Laundering and
Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial Institutions) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2018 (with the principal ordinance renamed as the Anti-
Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance
("AMLO™)) at the Legislative Council, which extends the statutory
customer due diligence and record-keeping requirements in specified
transactions to designated non-financial businesses and professions
(including estate agents), the EAA issued a relevant practice circular to
provide guidance for licensees when they are involved, in Hong Kong,
in a transaction concerning the buying or selling of real estate for a
client. According to the practice circular, estate agents must take all
reasonable steps to mitigate the risk of money-laundering and terrorist
financing as well as to ensure appropriate preventive measures are in
place. To fulfill the relevant requirements in the AMLO, estate agency
companies and their senior management should establish and
implement various policies, procedures and monitoring measures,
including risk assessment, customer due diligence measures,
continuous monitoring of customers, suspicious transactions
reporting, record-keeping and staff training. The practice circular was
also published in the Gazette. To assist the trade to better understand
and comply with the requirements of the practice circular and the
relevant provisions of the AMLO, a set of related “Questions and
Answers”, “Sample Identity Verification Forms” and a “Checklist for
Licensees” were provided at the EAA website for the trade’ reference.

Complaints and Inspections

Complaints and enquiries handling

In 2017/18, the EAA received 425 complaints, a decrease of 11%
from 477 complaints in 2016/17. However, the complaints concerning
the sale of first-hand residential properties had a slight increase from
74 cases in 2016/17 to 80 cases in 2017/18. Key allegations of the
425 complaints included mishandling the provisional agreement for
sale and purchase (or the provisional tenancy agreement), providing
inaccurate or misleading property information and issuing non-
compliant advertisement. The most common complaints related to
first-hand residential properties included failure to honour rebate
promises, issuance of non-compliant advertisements, and provision of
misleading mortgage information.

EERR201718F E B 425 R1E5F - B2016/17 FEH477 R
AT 1% ©

In 2017/18, the EAA received 425 complaints, a decrease of 11%
from 477 complaints in 2016/17.
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With a view to further enhancing the work on complaint handling
and the perception of the public and stakeholders on the EAA's
performance pledge on complaint processing time, a study had
been done to review the attainment profile of combining the time
taken under the investigation pledge and the disciplinary
proceedings pledge. In July 2018, the EAA will launch a new single
performance pledge on complaint handling process from the start
of a complaint investigation to the conduct of the first inquiry
hearing proceedings. Under the new performance pledge, from the
time of commencement of investigation to the first disciplinary
inquiry hearing will be within six months for Fast Track Cases,
within 10 months for Normal Cases, and within 13 months for
Complex Cases respectively, where the case is referred to the
Disciplinary Proceedings Section for conducting inquiry hearing. The
new revised performance pledge will present a clearer picture to
the public and stakeholders as the pledge is based on a simple
approach.

Apart from complaints, the EAA also handled 6,064 enquiries on
estate agency practices in 2017/18 and took follow-up actions in
response to those enquiries.
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Completed*
425 pat
2017/18
* Some cases completed in a year were brought forward from previous years. The

figures include prima facie cases referred to and dealt with by the Disciplinary
Committee and non-prima facie cases disposed of by the Complaints and
Enforcement Sections.
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* Some cases completed in a year were brought forward from previous years. The
figures include prima facie cases referred to and dealt with by the Disciplinary
Committee and non-prima facie cases disposed of by the Complaints and
Enforcement Sections.

A A completed case will be classified as “Substantiated” if any of the allegations
involved therein has been concluded as “Substantiated”.
# Include cases which were curtailed, withdrawn or closed due to other reasons.

Compliance inspections and investigations
During the year, the EAA continued to maintain its enforcement
effort on places of estate agency business and promotion sites of
first sale property developments. During the compliance visits, the
Enforcement Team regularly reminded the frontline practitioners to
observe and comply with the requirements of the newly issued
practice circulars in a bid to raise their professional and ethical
standards, while at the same time, to ensure a high level of
compliance. We also monitored online and printed advertisements
issued by practitioners. Appropriate cyber patrols on property online
portals and related advertisements enabled us to promptly identify
breaches of the regulations and guidelines and take timely
enforcement actions.

With the public’s increasing interests on buying overseas properties,
the EAA regularly conducts inspections to see if licensees abide by
the practice guidelines on marketing overseas properties. We also
proactively visit overseas properties promotional venues to
understand the various sales tactics used by the licensed estate
agents, and use covert techniques if and when necessary to detect
any malpractice such as misrepresentation when promoting these
properties.
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Compliance Inspections

As a member of the Financial Action Task Force, Hong Kong has an
obligation to implement the recommendations of the task force,
including measures to counter money laundering and terrorism
financing. These measures are applicable to the estate agency sector,
which is one of the industries identified as an important gatekeeper
to counter money laundering and terrorist financing threats.

Since March 2018, the EAA has been working closely with the estate
agency trade on the implementation of measures to prevent money
laundering and terrorist financing. The Enforcement Team has
conducted 25 inspections so far on estate agency shops to see if
they are complying with the practice circular on Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Requirement. Follow-up
off-site monitoring and prudential visits will be conducted to further
enhance the estate agency trade’s awareness and understanding of
the money laundering and terrorist financing threats.

During the year, the EAA conducted a total of 3,048 compliance
inspections, of which 1,423 were at first-sale sites and 1,625 at
estate agency shops. Some 672 spot checks on online
advertisements and 396 on online property portals were also carried
out during the period.
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Estate agency shops
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2017118

* Include development sites, sales offices and vicinity areas.
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Subsequent to these inspections and spot checks, 79 enforcement
cases were opened, of which 33 cases arose from first-sale
inspections, 15 from estate agency shop visits, 21 cases from online
and newspaper patrols and 10 cases of a miscellaneous nature.
Compliance failures, which constitute violations of EAO and its
subsidiary legislations, commonly revealed during the inspection
process include issuing non-compliant advertisements, failing to
wear Estate Agent card and/or staff card for identification purpose
at first-sale sites, and failing to possess property information.
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AT

Enforcement Cases

EZE 2B Number of Cases 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

32 B {E 28 Opened 78 71 79
B e B {EIZ Completed* 50 75 77
* FATKHOERT S AEFERENER  EPeEREZE * Some cases completed in a year were brought forward from previous years. The
BRLAEN THEELZEGRENEZR - ARBIRFRT figures include prima facie cases referred to and dealt with by the Disciplinary
BEEIBHREEBE TR LANESR o Committee and non-prima facie cases disposed of by the Complaints and

Enforcement Section.

HPROEEREHEREHNIRMHEMR Investigations into licensees/licence

BERWEBA BRBEEANAS applicants suspected of making false
statements or furnishing false information to
the EAA

RSB - WEEHERKLREMME  Itis an offence to make a false or misleading statement or furnish
SR E RS AREUNER - HBEERE!TA -  false or misleading information when making applications for the
201718 E » EERHAT T4 R FMERBIE  grant or renewal of licences. In 2017/18, investigations were
Bl B e R R AN IREEBRERNEZE - conducted into 64 licence applications in which the applicants were
suspected of making false statements or furnishing false
information in their licence application or licence renewal process.
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* Some cases completed in a year were brought forward from previous years.
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Disciplinary Actions

Inquiry hearings

If the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO") of the EAA has reasons to
believe that a licensee has failed to comply with the EAO and/or its
subsidiary legislation; or is not eligible to hold or continue to hold a
licence; or has failed to comply with a specified condition attached
to his licence, the CEO shall make a submission to the Disciplinary
Committee for consideration if an inquiry hearing should be
conducted.

The Disciplinary Committee, a standing committee established
under the EAO, receives, considers and conducts inquiries into
complaints and submissions by the CEO. If the Disciplinary
Committee, after conducting an inquiry hearing, is satisfied that the
complaint or submission is well-founded, it may exercise disciplinary
powers including admonishing or reprimanding the licensee
concerned, attaching/varying specified conditions attached to his
licence, suspending/revoking his licence, imposing a fine and
making a costs order.

In 2017/18, the Disciplinary Committee adjudicated 229 cases, of
which 226 were substantiated (i.e. 98.7%). As a result, a total of
232 licensees were disciplined, among whom 153 were individual
licensees' and 79 company licensees.

86

B 2B A o
A staged inquiry hearing.

' BIEMERBARNBEKLEE ABA -
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! Including sole-proprietors and partners of estate agency firms.
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During the same period, 30 licences were suspended for periods
ranging from seven days to two months. Licensees disciplined were
found to have been engaged in unprofessional conduct such as
making misrepresentations, failing to protect and promote the
interests of their clients, or failing to exercise due care and due
diligence.

A total of 168 licensees were fined, with the fines ranging from
$500 to $120,000.

Publication of reasons for the decisions of
inquiry hearings

For achieving greater transparency, the EAA has since February
2017 published on its website the reasons for the decisions of the
inquiry hearings conducted by the Disciplinary Committee.

The publication of the reasons for the decisions enables the estate
agency trade to have a better understanding of the EAA’s
disciplinary decisions. It also gives licensees an opportunity to learn
about how to comply with the EAO and/or its subsidiary legislation
so that similar complaints may be prevented in the future.
Moreover, by demonstrating what regulatory action is being or has
been taken and the reasons behind, public confidence in the
regulatory role of the EAA can also be maintained.

Number of Inquiry Hearings with Decision Handed Down

% Z Year

2015/16 2016/17 201718

MR E Number of hearings

186 187 229
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201718 FERRERER* ERBRE
Number of
Common Types of Non-compliance in 2017/18* Allegations

1. BEERIREURERS  AEBSFFAEEREMBELES  BEEREFETRNES
Issuing a false or misleading advertisement; advertising without vendor’s prior written consent;
advertising in contravention of vendor’s instruction 50

2. FERARBAMIMEREARNS D  BHAER—FETERNES

Issuing an advertisement concerning a first-hand residential development in the licensee’s personal

capacity instead of in the capacity of an estate agency company 48
3. RE/RERHEERT -FEEMNEER
Offering/making a loan to a prospective purchaser of a first-hand property 22

4. MAEPRMHEHERNDEXRFEN  REEZEHTEFPOYENR FER B ERE
Providing wrong property or transaction information to clients; failure to verify the accuracy of
property or transaction information provided to clients 20

5. M —FEER RAMEBMEREER SBEE
Failure to wear Estate Agent card and/or staff card when promoting the sale of first-hand
properties 19

6. HEEREREVENEREERAEETEERMELNES
Failure to comply with the guidelines issued by the EAA when providing the saleable area of the
property concerned in the advertisement 18

7. REERPHEEARBEEINSH  REBMRARREZBHRREERGRZ ML BRELD,HE
REBZOALERES MEFHER MAREXRE
Failure to ascertain the ownership of the property before arranging it for rent; failure to ensure
that the signatory was duly authorised by the vendor/lessor or purchaser/tenant to sign the
provisional agreement for sale and purchase/tenancy agreement/provisional tenancy agreement/
estate agency agreement 17

8. AERRITARBHNERARZRE  IAREGHDEZNTARBRITAEBRAL - KETHAKRR
ABEM EZRBAPTIEAKGIRAN XM  RAEEMERIE B ZT FTAAREIRK
Failure to complete a prescribed form in accordance with the directions specified in the form or
supply a completed prescribed form to a person or attach to a prescribed form such documents as
directed or specified in the form; failure to stipulate the term of validity period in the estate

agency agreement 16
9. AREHEEFIIMHMERIERZ
Failure to enter into an estate agency agreement with clients 15
10. REBRTAEPIELNRE LA K, SASELAFIAE BEE
Failure to give and/or set out in writing the cash rebate as promised to clients 9
* HoRRMERS S RBE—BERER - *  There could be more than one type of non-compliances in some inquiry hearing

cases.
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Actions Taken Against Licensees or Former Licensees* 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

B RN A SRTIF A AE

Number of licensees or former licensees involved
ITE)MEE

Type of actions'

i,

Admonishment/reprimand

TERRBR L F hn it 2

Attachment of conditions to licence?

85 B IR R

Suspension of licence

HsH R AR

Revocation of licence

368 324 359
193 192 233
123 132 168
223 177 170
22 25 31
564 294 304

G ERIR GG D MEL R AR - BRA RO ATRTBR
wENnE - BHEEFEMABAEHMERE -

ok

EBMOERT - FHFR—FEALAFEA KRB R IATE

BB ERAE L R R B AN - ELERBIBER T AN -

BUREERNERSGERZESHT  BEARFRATE
& AR IR -

*

These actions were taken pursuant to powers under the EAO. Some actions may be
disciplinary in nature and others not. Some cases were carried over from previous
years.

In some cases more than one action was imposed on the same licensee or former
licensee.

Some conditions were attached upon the granting of licences and others attached
thereafter.

These cases were decided by the Licensing Committee on the ground that the
licensees concerned no longer met the relevant licensing requirements.
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Professional Development

With a view to fostering career progression and professional
advancement of the estate agency trade practitioners, the EAA
launched a Continuing Professional Development (“CPD") Scheme
in 2005. Through the CPD Scheme, the EAA strives to build a
culture of self-advancement among practitioners, which helps
advance the practitioners’ knowledge and skills and keep their
professional knowledge up to date within the field in which they
work.

EER IR A B L E B ERITHE
B EZREETEY - RERFIEABIE
SIZRM T AR -

Related CPD activities on the Practice
Circulars issued by the EAA are held regularly
to familiarise licensees with the requirements
of the guidelines.

Introduction of the CPD Scheme

The CPD Scheme is implemented on a voluntary basis. Under the
scheme, practitioners are encouraged to take part in a wide range
of CPD activities provided by different activity organisers, including
the EAA itself, educational institutions, other regulatory bodies or
professional associations, trade associations and the estate agency
firms.

CPD activities are classified under two main categories, namely
Compliance and Effective Management, and All-round
Advancement. Subjects relating to law, compliance or supervisory
issues are grouped under Compliance and Effective Management,
while other subjects conducive to all-round development and
quality enhancement of licensees are grouped under All-round
Advancement.
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BESESEEE T CEIRIFEREEEZL  CPD points would be assigned to CPD activities based on the
o WIREEEEHNZ /\E¢%(u+é o —MRIRER number of hours involved in a CPD activity. Generally, one CPD
BEERAGLR2HE—/NEHEH TS @ FEH point would be awarded for each hour of activity undertaken. In
HEEES o BTRIFEALELRES MR  order to motivate licensees and to meet their demands of diverse
BBMEE  FRAREBTRZSEREAAEEN  interests and needs, CPD points are allowed to be acquired through

BEEBEEEEBED PN EE Hist® - various modes of learning, such as seminar/lecture, web-based
WEREE . nEESMEKRNRIE  $¥E2E .- distance learning, award-bearing courses, tour, delegation visit and
REERGTRBEZREE - professional exchange activities.

EERSEIXY Number of activities and enrolments

ER G ETRNREMIETMKES L8P T 4943845 During the year, a total of 494 CPD activities were organised by the

EEEEAEEE) - ke T 28,933 AR - £HI/S  EAA and other activity organisers. These CPD activities attracted

55,808 A EH EHEE2H o [E494EESENH - 119 28,933 enrolments and attained 55,808 CPD points. Among the

B (EEEEEN24%) HES PP - KEANE 494 activities, 119 (24% of the total number of activities) were

16,021 (A2 A IRH)55%) © organised by the EAA with 16,021 enrolments (about 55% of total
enrolments).

BE=FNFESEEEZTH
CPD Activities in the Past Three Years

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
EEEE ZHEANR 3 ZHEAR J ZHEAR
No. of No. of b No. of . No. of
Activities | Enrolments Activities | Enrolments Activities | Enrolments
EE R EAA 104 16,267 111 15,747 119 16,021
IR ZE S Estate Agency Trade 224 8,483 316 10,727 366 12,702
H b ###HE Other Providers 8 220 7 78 9 210
1B Total 336 24,970 434 26,552 494 28,933
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Highlights of activities

EAA's Certificate Programme in Practice

To equip the licensees with the necessary practical and legal
knowledge for effective estate agency practices, the EAA has been
organising a structured programme titled “EAA’s Certificate
Programme in Practice” since 2016. During the year, 20 classes
were held and they attracted 2,978 enrolments. The contents of
the programme are mainly focused on estate agents’ daily
workflow, emphasising practical knowledge for everyday practice.
The classes and exercises were specially designed to enhance the
participants’ understanding of legal and regulatory requirements of
property transactions in a lively and interactive manner. In light of
the positive responses from the participants, the EAA’s Certificate
Programme in Practice is regularly run with the most updated
knowledge and skills offered to the licensees.

SHEE-HMEREEEREBEEZRE]
WIS ANBEE BERES -

Participants of the first series of “EAA’s
Certificate Programme in Practice” were
awarded the certificate.

Talks Given by Representatives of Professional
Associations and Regulatory Bodies

In order to provide a broad range of diversified CPD courses and
activities, the EAA regularly invites representatives of professional
associations and regulatory bodies to give talks to the estate agency
practitioners. During the year, 26 CPD activities were organised in
collaboration with various professional associations and regulatory
bodies namely: the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants;
the Buildings Department; the Competition Commission; the Equal
Opportunities Commission; The Hong Kong Green Building Council;
the Immigration Department; the Hong Kong Institute of
Construction Managers; The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors; The
Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited; the Office of the Privacy
Commissioner for Personal Data; The Hong Kong Police Force; the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors; and the Sales of First-hand
Residential Properties Authority. It is encouraging to note that the
licensees’ increasing quest for knowledge has led to their interests
in other disciplines and professions, thus facilitating a culture of
professional learning within the estate agency trade.
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CPD Activities for Promotion of Professional
Ethics

To highlight the importance of integrity and ethical practices, CPD
courses/activities jointly organised by the EAA, the Independent
Commission Against Corruption, the Narcotics Division of the
Security Bureau and the Joint Financial Intelligence Unit were
regularly held. During the year, eight courses/activities were
successfully held to provide up-to-date knowledge on the
legislations in relation to anti-money laundering, corruption
prevention, proper governance and effective management control.

CPD incentives and premium recognitions
Under the CPD Scheme, practitioners who earned 12 or more CPD
points in a 12-month CPD period are considered having achieved
the CPD yearly attainment target and will be awarded the CPD
Attainment Symbol. Moreover, licensees who have achieved their
CPD attainment targets for three and five consecutive CPD periods
will also be awarded the Premium CPD Attainment Symbol — Silver
("Silver Symbol”) and Premium CPD Attainment Symbol — Gold
("Gold Symbol”) respectively. Awardees of Silver Symbol and Gold
Symbol will be presented with a small wearable badge as
recognition of their commitment, diligence and learning efforts.

In addition to the Premium CPD Attainment Symbols which are
presented to individual licensees, holders of statement of particulars
of business (“SPOB") with over 80% of their licensed employees
having achieved the yearly CPD attainment target will be presented
with the CPD Mark for Estate Agencies.

EERSRHEZHENEERETSEE
ERE BYHREBANEESERLESR
Rt AT PIE) A o

The EAA will provide more high quality CPD
courses with more options to help
practitioners create business opportunities
and carry out their work more effectively.
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Achievement

E-EEERREIFESREETINENBROFEA* | REFREBTEETRE

Licensees achieving CPD attainment target for one
CPD period*

FEE-(EERREIFEEXEETIANEN R

FEA(B2013410 A1 BRAKBEERERRER
Licensees achieving CPD attainment target for three
consecutive CPD periods (with effect from the

CPD period commencing 1 October 2013)

BB EEERBEIFEEXEEFTENED ZRN £E

R A (B2013410 A1 HRBAEERREER)
Licensees achieving CPD attainment target for five
consecutive CPD periods (with effect from the CPD
period commencing 1 October 2013)

B80% I LFMEBEDFEFRECTENBOENRY | MEREABRERECRTEE

EEFBHAZTHEA
Holders of SPOB with over 80% of licensed employees
having achieved the CPD attainment target
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2017118 FE
R BREYE
No. of awardees
Award in 2017/18

CPD Attainment Symbol 1,747

Silver Symbol 109

Gold Symbol E R
N.A.#

CPD Mark for Estate Agencies 50

* Each CPD period shall be a 12-month period commencing 1 October each year and
ending on 30 September the following year.

#  Gold Symbol would be awarded to the first batch of licensees who achieved the
CPD attainment target for the CPD periods ending on 30 September 2014, 2015,
2016, 2017 and 2018.

E-Learning programmes

In addition to face-to-face CPD activities, licensees are provided
with a flexible learning option to undertake online CPD activities at
anytime and anywhere. During the year, the EAA added five new
e-learning programmes to its e-learning platform. As e-learning
programmes have been gradually gaining acceptance and adoption
amongst the estate agency trade practitioners, more e-learning
programmes on topical subjects will be developed and launched to
suit the interests and learning needs of the licensees.

WEREBEER «2017/18 F3}

97



ORIk P i i WS

Forward Looking in Knowledge Instillation

BE-FEERNALBEEEH

EAA’s e-learning Programmes in the Past Three Years

EERMLERESHHA

Number of EAA’s e-learning programmes

EERMLEREHN2MAK

Number of participants of EAA’s e-learning programmes 361

EERMLEREHNZ2EAR

Number of enrolments of EAA’s e-learning programmes

9 13 18

455 441

1,901

1,372 1,943
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Future of the CPD Scheme

In order to provide more learning options and widen licensees’
access to quality CPD courses, the EAA has entered into strategic
partnerships with HKU School of Professional and Continuing
Education and Institute for Entrepreneurship — The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University respectively for the provision of high quality
CPD courses which are both appealing and affordable to the estate
agency trade practitioners. Under the strategic partnerships, the
EAA and the strategic partners are aiming to provide high quality
CPD courses which would help practitioners create business
opportunities and carry out their work more effectively.

Public Education and Stakeholder Liaisons

Consumer educational campaigns

The EAA believes that disputes and misunderstandings could be
minimised if consumers are more aware of their rights and interests
in property transactions. Hence, the EAA strives to spare no effort
on consumer education. In 2017/18, the EAA continued to share
different knowledge on property transactions with the public
through multiple communication channels and platforms.
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In September 2017 and March 2018, the EAA organised two large-
scale public education seminars. One of the seminars was titled “Be
Smart in Non-residential Property Transactions” so as to share
useful tips on the transaction of non-residential properties with the
audience; while the second seminar titled “Points to Note on
Purchasing Properties Situated Outside Hong Kong”. It was aimed
at disseminating useful information for consumers when appointing
licensed estate agents to purchase properties situated outside Hong
Kong. Both seminars received an overwhelming response from the
public.

r

AF IR

201759 EERE—HER &
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BEBEF  MBREOZIETEME
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In September 2017, the EAA organised
a large-scale public education seminar
titled “Be Smart in Non-residential
Property Transactions” so as to share
useful information on the transaction
of non-residential properties with the
audience.

In order to enhance the understanding of “the estate agency trade
by the public, in particular the young generation, the EAA organised
a Micro Movie Competition as one of the highlighted events of the
20% anniversary of the EAA. The competition, mainly targeting full
time post-secondary students, aimed at building up young people’s
understanding of the industry and promoting the professional
image of the trade. Participants were required to submit their
shooting proposals based on a choice of three themes, namely
“Acquiring a Dream Home with Your Devotion”, “Finding the Right
Middleman” and “Integrity, Home, Estate Agents”. The results
were announced in the cocktail reception of the EAA’s 20
anniversary on 2 November 2017.
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Furthermore, the EAA published a new consumer booklet titled
“Tenancy Guide for Non-local Students in Hong Kong” in May
2017. The booklet illustrated the important points about appointing
a licensed estate agent, entering into an estate agency agreement
and selecting a property. The booklet has three language versions
available, including traditional Chinese, simplified Chinese and
English versions, for non-local students to read easily. Copies of the
booklet have been distributed to the universities in Hong Kong and
are also available for collection at the EAA office.

Media relations

To improve public and stakeholders’ awareness of the work of the
EAA and to maintain a positive image, the EAA continues to
strengthen the connection with the media to publicise its initiatives
and efforts. During the year, the EAA issued 11 press releases and
held three press conferences which gained wide media coverage. A
total of eight feature interviews were arranged with the EAA
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in major print and electronic
media. At the same time, by organising media luncheons and the
Chinese New Year gathering with frontline journalists, the EAA
maintained a cordial relationship with the media.

To further promote consumer-related information through mass
media channels, the EAA regularly contributes articles on current
topics relating to property transactions and expected services of
estate agents to the media. In 2017/18, the EAA contributed a total
of 47 articles to four print or online columns, namely, The Standard,
the property magazine and website of Sing Tao Daily, Hong Kong
Economic Journal website, and the website of cnfol.com.
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Trade communications

The estate agency trade is a close partner with the EAA in pursuing
a higher standard of trade practices. Maintaining a good rapport
with trade representatives is essential to gaining their understanding
and support for the work of the EAA. The EAA hosted four liaison
meetings with the representatives of major trade associations in
2017/18 as a regular dialogue and two-way exchange with the
trade. Trade representatives’ views regarding the EAA’s new
initiatives were collected at these meetings. Moreover, issues of
mutual concern were discussed and the trade was briefed on the
salient points of the draft practice circulars. Their concerns on the
implementation were clarified and noted for further consideration.
During the year, the Government launched a consultation exercise
on a proposal to amend the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-
Terrorist Financing (Financial Institutions) Ordinance to require
designated non-financial businesses and professions, including the
estate agency sector, engaged in specified transactions to conduct
customer due diligence and keep record. On this, the EAA kept
close communication with both the Government and the trade to
facilitate the trade’s better understanding of the Government’s
proposal and collect their views. Apart from liaison meetings, focus
group meetings with licensees in various districts were organised to
maintain direct dialogue with frontline practitioners. At these
meetings, the EAA invited licensees to share practice issues they
encountered, which helped the EAA formulate practical policies,
guidelines and measures for the trade. In the reporting year, two
focus group meetings were held in Kai Tak and Tai Po respectively,

all with positive feedback.
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The EAA hosted four liaison
with the
representatives of major trade
associations in 2017/18 as a
regular dialogue and two-way
exchange with the trade.

meetings
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The EAA also issues letters or reminders to licensees in the form of
email or special notices published on the EAA’s website to alert
them to certain requirements relating to the estate agency practice,
and reminders or new measures from the Government. In 2017/18,
a total of 18 such letters or notices were issued. In addition, four
issues of the EAA’s newsletter for licensees, Horizons, were
published in the year to keep licensees abreast of the EAA’s
regulatory measures and our latest activities. Members of the public
could also collect a copy of the newsletter at the EAA office or read
the e-version at the EAA’s website. The EAA also maintained a
cordial relationship with the trade by attending different trade
events in 2017/18.

Exchanges and liaisons with other
stakeholders

Apart from liaisons with practitioners, the EAA also keeps a good
relationship with external stakeholders, including the Government,
other professional bodies and the public. In the year, regarding the
Government’'s proposed amendments to the Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial Institutions)
Ordinance, the EAA consistently acted as a bridge between the
Government and the estate agency trade. The EAA also invited
trade representatives to attend a Government briefing session for
the estate agency sector on the legislative proposals to enhance the
Anti-Money Laundering Regulation of designated non-financial
businesses and professions in February 2017. Different meetings
were also held to gather the opinions from the trade on the
implementation of the required measures. It is essential for estate
agents to keep informed of relevant government regulations and
new developments in the market. The EAA interacts consistently
with different government departments and public bodies such as
Buildings Department, Land Registry, Consumer Council, Equal
Opportunities Commission, Competition Commission and Privacy
Commissioner for Personal Data, etc. Licensees are being informed
of updated information relating to the estate agency sector from
these departments and bodies.
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In addition, the EAA had exchange meetings with different
professional, statutory and trade bodies both local and outside
Hong Kong. During the year, the EAA received two delegations
from the Legal Education Fund and the China Institute of Real
Estate Appraisers and Agents respectively in July 2017 and February
2018. Participating guests showed great interest in learning the
role, functions of the EAA and the regulatory framework of the

estate agency trade in Hong Kong.
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The EAA received a delegation
from the China Institute of
Real Estate Appraisers and
Agents respectively in February
2018.

The EAA management also met with one of the directors of
Association of Real Estate License Law Officials Foundation
("ARELLO") in November 2017 to share opinions on the regulatory
regime of Hong Kong with ARELLO. Separately, a meeting with the
Property Management Services Authority was held in January 2018
to share the EAA’s experience on the licensing regime of the estate
agency trade.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY
WERBEER
(established in Hong Kong pursuant to the Estate Agents Ordinance)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Estate Agents
Authority set out on pages 112 to 138, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018, and the
statement of income and expenditure, statement of movements in
reserves and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of
the financial position of Estate Agents Authority as at 31 March
2018, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Estate Agents Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of Estate Agents Authority in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Other Information

Estate Agents Authority is responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Estate Agents Authority’s
Responsibility for the Financial
Statements

Estate Agents Authority is responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Estate Agents
Ordinance, and for such internal control as Estate Agents Authority
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, Estate Agents Authority is
responsible for assessing its ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless Estate Agents
Authority either intends to liquidate Estate Agents Authority or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Estate Agents Authority is responsible for overseeing its financial
reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with section 12 of the Estate Agents Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of Estate Agents Authority’s
internal control.
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Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by Estate Agents Authority.

Conclude on the appropriateness of Estate Agents Authority’s
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on Estate Agent Authority’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause Estate Agents Authority to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with Estate Agents Authority regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
24 July 2018
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W EE R Statement of Income and Expenditure
EZE2018F3A31HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2018
2018 2017
Bt & BT BIT
NOTES HK$ HK$
WA Income
W2 AR & Licence fees 5 77,302,651 75,528,912
ERE Examination fees 6 8,231,550 6,191,900
FEW A Interest income 2,160,616 1,821,442
87,694,817 83,542,254
i Expenditure
1% ER AN N & Auditor’s remuneration 69,000 69,000
NBABHZ Community education expenses 1,965,972 2,066,662
125 - AERALEFHSZE  Complaints, investigation and
disciplinary proceedings expenses 148,250 141,309
e Depreciation 8 2,295,621 2,502,241
EMHEERENBNER Equipment maintenance and
communication expenses 1,602,470 1,475,579
MERIEES H Estate agent card expenses 90,630 97,389
IR B Insurance 1,182,436 1,104,952
REEEY Motor vehicle operating expenses 189,922 195,064
MAERABRRY Office accommodation and related
expenses 2,532,625 2,616,520
KEHERS — L RETF Operating lease rentals in respect of
land and buildings 9,095,937 9,097,586
g Postage 370,140 295,327
EN Il R 3T E Printing and stationery 469,220 408,368
HERGER Professional service fees 100,000 34,000
NEBIR N EE Public relations and liaison 34,567 37,873
EENMES Publicity and advertising 339,778 70,000
BITRA Staff costs
— & KoER — wages, salaries and allowances 51,302,637 49,827,444
— REIMATEEHZK — contributions to mandatory
provident fund scheme 1,442,438 1,401,910
ZARIGE Service fees for examinations 5,952,265 4,532,218
EIESFRAS Training activity expenses 816,957 689,023
HEx Other expenses 579,860 477,252
80,580,725 77,139,717
FREBLREMEEW 4% Surplus and total comprehensive
income for the year 7,114,092 6,402,537

ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY e Annual Report 2017/18
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AR R TR Statement of Financial Position
1201843 A31H At 31 March 2018
2018 2017
B e BT BT
NOTES HK$ HK$
EMEBEE Non-current assets
Y - BBZI NG Property, plant and equipment 8 2,699,244 4,409,909
BEYE EIENREZ Deposit paid for acquisition of property,
BiEe plant and equipment 9 12,950,210 -
15,649,454 4,409,909
mENEE Current assets
AR - B RIERIZS Debtors, prepayments and deposits 3,994,762 3,775,077
JE 8K Time deposits 10 21,786,359 87,225,399
IRITEBR LIRS Bank balances and cash 10 211,393,631 147,932,054
237,174,752 238,932,530
mEAaE Current liabilities
FENBR N FEETTE B Creditors and accruals 8,963,443 10,949,365
TEFEW A Deferred income 11 62,921,218 57,878,462
B Uk b BR ER 55 708 Licence application fees received 12 4,235,492 4,924,651
76,120,153 73,752,478
MENE EFE Net current assets 161,054,599 165,180,052
BEERRBAEE Total assets less current liabilities 176,704,053 169,589,961
B Reserves 176,704,053 169,589,961

HNE108F 134 B 2 & REN 201847 H24 8  The financial statements on pages 108 to 134 were approved and

EHEREEEREZEKEM/ERRENE  XH

authorised for issue by the members of Estate Agents Authority on

TR EEZ 24 July 2018 and are signed on their behalf by:
2K FE TR William LEUNG Wing-cheung Ruby HON
*E 7T AEZL Chairman Chief Executive Officer

HEREESR « 2017/18 F1F 109
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#HEgE R Statement of Movements in Reserves
BHZE2018F3 A31 HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2018
B
BHEES RRERE #at
Capital Cumulative
project fund fund Total
BT BT BT
HK$ HK$ HK$
R2016F4 81 H At 1 April 2016 111,885,790 51,301,634 163,187,424
FRNEH Surplus for the year = 6,402,537 6,402,537
EREERIFREES Transfer to capital project fund 3,706,369 (3,706,369) =
R2017F3 A31HK At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017
20174818 115,592,159 53,997,802 169,589,961
FRNEAEHR Surplus for the year - 7,114,092 7,114,092
EREERIFERES Transfer to capital project fund 4,705,386 (4,705,386) =
7R20184F3 A31H At 31 March 2018 120,297,545 56,406,508 176,704,053

ERNEBESRANINEREHEREEER (A

Capital project fund caters for the cost of capital projects, as
THEBEEER)ZENERBEHKA - EEE /S  approved by Estate Agents Authority (“EAA"). Transfers will be
FERBERRERETERNBEZERERES

HKMEAREESERFAERTEME

made from the cumulative fund to the capital project fund or from
the capital project fund to the cumulative fund at the discretion of
EAA.

MR2018F 3 A31H BARBEESERTITAAER
1% BB K A A =R FIE 120,297,545 7% 7T (2017
£ : 115,592,159 1) o

Capital project fund balance at 31 March 2018 of HK$120,297,545
(2017: HK$115,592,159) represented funds for the acquisition of
permanent office accommodation in future.
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REREK Statement of Cash Flows
H=2018F3 A31HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2018
2018 2017
BT BIT
HK$ HK$
BEER OPERATING ACTIVITIES
FANAKB Surplus for the year 7,114,092 6,402,537
BB SIBELAE Adjustments for:
A EWA Interest income (2,160,616) (1,821,442)
e Depreciation 2,295,621 2,502,241
BEEASHEN L ERSRE Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital 7,249,097 7,083,336
FEUBRE SN « TEN FIE R IZ S 3N Increase in debtors, prepayments and deposits (281,303) (268,086)
FETBR SR K FEETIE B > Decrease in creditors and accruals (1,985,922) (1,727,385)
IEFE YA TE B0 Increase in deferred income 5,042,756 2,621,966
Bk BR ER S A Rt ) 150 (Decrease) increase in licence applications
received (689,159) 137,544
EEEBMEHRSFR NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 9,335,469 7,847,375
RETER INVESTING ACTIVITIES
TRBUE HifE R Withdrawal of time deposits 65,439,040 -
FETHEFER Placement of time deposits - (3,620,331)
BEVE ML RE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (584,956) (143,800)
S =N Interest received 2,222,234 1,621,593
BEWE  WREREBZENMNESE  Deposit paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment (12,950,210) -
B EETE (TR )RS F5E NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING
ACTIVITIES 54,126,108 (2,142,538)
HRe MR EEWEINFEE NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 63,461,577 5,704,837
FUNE e MIRESEFEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 147,932,054 142,227,217
FRNFEERREEED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 211,393,631 147,932,054
e MIReEEMERDIT ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS:
RITEBR LIRS Bank balances and cash 211,393,631 147,932,054
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2018

1.

General

EAA was established with the principal functions of promoting
integrity and competence of estate agents and issuing estate
agents’ licences under the Estate Agents Ordinance dated 29
May 1997 (date of enactment). The address of the registered
office and principal place of business of EAA is 48th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar,
which is the same as the functional currency of EAA.

Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ( “HKFRSs")

EAA has applied, the following amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

wEAE

Disclosure Initiative

WAERBRERELHEEE

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses

ERBEMBRELR —T——F_F
i)

As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014
Cycle

—FBE FEH

The application of the above amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material effect on the EAA’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in the financial statements.
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BT RAEET

B At K R ATER A DA T E AR 1B R A 2
BB RS RN ] RERT A ¢

BB R EERF I
HKFRS 9

BB BREENF 155
HKFRS 15

BAMBHEEANE 165
HKFRS 16

BRMBREENF 175
HKFRS 17

A (ERMEHREREZES) —REL2%
HK(IFRIC) — Int 22

A (ERMBEHREREZES) —REL23%
HK(IFRIC) — Int 23

BB R ELERFE 2 RIS A
Amendments to HKFRS 2
BB R R E 45FIEFT A

Amendments to HKFRS 4

WA %54k 3¢ Financial Statements

2. Application of New and Amendments

to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ( “HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

EAA has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

SR TA!
Financial Instruments’

REE# Wz R AARBER]!
Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the related
Amendments'

HE?
Leases?

REEE )

Insurance Contracts*

SNERZ B M FAMAR(E?

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration’

PRSI HETE 1A SR 72 2

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments?

AR RERN KR SN DB RAE!
Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions'

HEEBNBRELRE 4R RSO —OEANT BN
HELERFEIRERT A"

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts'

HEREESR « 2017/18 F1F 113
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BB R EERE OIS A
Amendments to HKFRS 9

BB HHRELERFZ 105RETAR
ARG ERIE 28 BT A
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

EBGTTERE 19REFT A
Amendments to HKAS 19

BB ERIE 28 RIEFT A
Amendments to HKAS 28

FREGRTERIZE 28 R IEFT A

Amendments to HKAS 28

BB EBFIERIZE 405 ERT A
Amendments to HKAS 40

BB Rk ERNEE]
Amendments to HKFRSs
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2. Application of New and Amendments

to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ( “HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

B E R TR RIS 1 2
Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation?

REEFEAMEN S LN ZANEELEIRAS

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?

AHEMERT ~ MERE S A2

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement?

REE R REERRINREER?
Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures?

TERCERBMBIRELNN2014F £ 2016 FBH 2
BHEEBOE

As part of the Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle'

REMEER

Transfers of Investment Property’

EEVBRERN T -—RFE_T—+FBEH
INFE D2
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle?

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

Except as described below, management of EAA does not
anticipate that the application of the new and revised HKFRSs
will have material impact on the financial statements.
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2. Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ( “HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities,
general hedge accounting and impairment requirements for
financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to EAA are:

o all recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured
at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt
instruments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows,
and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost
at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt
instruments that are held within a business model
whose objective is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and
that have contractual terms that give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are
generally measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”). All other debt
instruments and equity investments are measured at
their fair value at subsequent accounting periods. In
addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make an
irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in
the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held
for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.
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2. Application of New and Amendments

to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ( “HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not

yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

o in relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to
an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“HKAS
39"). The expected credit loss model requires an entity
to account for expected credit losses and changes in
those expected credit losses at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In
other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event
to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

Based on EAA’s financial instruments and risk management
policies as at 31 March 2018, management of EAA anticipates
the following potential impact on initial application of HKFRS
9

Classification and measurement

All financial assets and financial liabilities will continue to be
measured on the same bases as are currently measured under
HKAS 39.

Impairment

In general, management of EAA anticipates that the
application of the expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9 will
result in earlier provision of credit losses which are not yet
incurred in relation to the EAA’s financial assets measured at
amortised costs and other items that subject to the
impairment provisions upon application of HKFRS 9 by EAA.

Based on the assessment by management of EAA, it is
anticipated that the application of the HKFRS 9 will have no
material financial impacts on the results and the financial
position of EAA.
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Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ( “HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the
standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies
a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.
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2. Application of New and Amendments

to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ( “HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarifications to HKFRS 15 in
relation to the identification of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing
application guidance.

Management of EAA does not expect that the application of
HKFRS 15 will have a significant impact, when applied, on the
EAA's financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the
basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases
are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model
where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have
to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-
term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The
lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently,
the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments,
as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others.
For the classification of cash flows, the Group currently
presents upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash
flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned use and those
classified as investment properties while other operating lease
payments are presented as operating cash flows. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease
liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest
portion which will be presented as financing cash flows.
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2. Application of New and Amendments

to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ( “HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS
17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either
as an operating lease or a finance lease. Furthermore,
extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 March 2018, EAA has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of HK$5,465,680 as disclosed in note 14.
A preliminary assessment indicates that the arrangement will
meet the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16, and hence
EAA will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability in respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low
value or short-term leases upon the application of HKFRS 16.

In addition, EAA currently considers refundable rental deposits
paid of HK$2,095,182 as rights and obligations under leases
to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of lease
payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments
relating to the right to use the underlying assets, accordingly,
the carrying amounts of such deposits may be adjusted to
amortised cost and such adjustments are considered as
additional lease payments. Adjustments to refundable rental
deposits paid would be included in the carrying amount of
right-of-use assets.

In addition, the application of new requirements may result
changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as
indicated above. However, it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of the financial effect until the
management complete a detailed review.
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Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Estate Agents
Ordinance.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical
cost basis, except for certain financial instruments, which are
measured at fair value, as explained in the significant
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Revenue recognition
Income from issuing licences is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the life of the licence.

Income from examinations is recognised on the date of the
examination.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that economic benefits will flow into EAA and the
amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income
is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset
to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses,
if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
deprecation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in the statement of income and
expenditure.

Impairment of tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, EAA reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, EAA estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.
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(Continued)
BREEZRE ) Impairment of tangible assets (Continued)
AUk B 6 58 AN B E R S pk AN B {E (B (A Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
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sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific

% o to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

B E (KRG EEBNL) 2 FT Bl E R IEEHE If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating

REEEE  BleB%BEE (HBEeELSEN) unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the

ZEmMEREHEAWESEE - BEEEBEER carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is

WSz a5 E R NFER o reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in the statement of income and
expenditure.
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amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
statement of financial position when EAA becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets
and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.
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(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

EAA’s financial assets are classified as loan and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including debtors, time deposits and bank and
cash balances) are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment losses (see accounting
policy on impairment of financial assets below).
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at
the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future
cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

J it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

o disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as debtors,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are,
subsequently, assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include EAA’s past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the
portfolio past the average credit period, and observable
changes in local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of debtors, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When a debtor is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited to the statement of income and expenditure.
For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through the
statement of income and expenditure to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and
the definition of a financial liability.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees and points paid on received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including creditors and accruals) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

EAA derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If EAA
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, EAA continues to recognise the asset to the extent of
its continuing involvement and recognises an associated
liability. If EAA retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, EAA continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in the statement of
income and expenditure.

EAA derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
EAA's obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable
is recognised in the statement of income and expenditure.

Leasing

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a
reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term, except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits
from the leased asset are consumed.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Employee benefits

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees.

A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period.

Employee benefits — provident fund
obligations

EAA operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF
scheme”) in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF scheme are
held in a separate trustee — administered fund. Both EAA
and the employees are required to contribute 5% of the
employee’s relevant income up to a maximum of HK$1,500
(2017: HK$1,500) per employee per month. EAA’s
contributions to the MPF scheme are expensed as incurred.

Critical Accounting Judgment and
Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty

In the process of applying EAA’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, management had made the following
judgments that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Allowances for bad and doubtful debts
of debtors

Debtors are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Appropriate allowances for
estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the
statement of income and expenditure when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired.
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4. BREESHHERMGHTEER 4. Critical Accounting Judgment and
ZEZFERRw@ Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty (continued)
PEW R 2 R AR & (8) Allowances for bad and doubtful debts
of debtors (Continued)
AEEREER - EERRADERBAFER In determining individual allowances, EAA has considered that
BN TERE S - BE SRS E/EE RIZRE detailed procedures have been in place to monitor this risk. In
B EEEREZEERRAN - aTlkE 2 Al e determining whether allowance for bad and doubtful debts is
MR AREERE - FERBERT required, EAA takes into consideration the aging status, the
KATREW O] 7 FEUR FRIE 1B o A SR likelihood of collection and the estimated discounted future
B . W HIB AL N RERE - BT RSB E L B cash flows. Specific allowance is made for debtors that are
o unlikely to be collected. If the financial conditions of these
debtors were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of
their ability to make payments, allowances may be required.
5. BRE 5. Licence Fees
2018 2017
BT BIT
HK$ HK$
MBERB AW A Total licence fees 77,302,651 75,528,912
6. ZHE 6. Examination Fees
2018 2017
AT BT
HK$ HK$
WERENZXESERES Estate agents and salespersons
qualifying examinations 7,811,550 6,191,900
EAREEBRANELE B2 Examination for the scheme on mutual
SEBENZHE) T —RBEZE  recognition of professional qualifications
BREREABRA for estate agents in the Mainland and
Hong Kong under the Closer Economic
Partnership Arrangement (CEPA) 420,000 -
8,231,550 6,191,900
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7. BIE 7. Taxation
RIECRRIGEM ) E 87 1§ » E5 & B IEZA B B 4K EAA is exempt from Hong Kong Profits Tax under section 87
BEERNER - of the Inland Revenue Ordinance.
8. Y% - #aEKhXlhE 8. Property, Plant and Equipment
HEMEEE AE BRREE B ] a5t
Leasehold Motor Furniture
improvements vehicles  and fixtures Equipment Total
BT BT BT BT BT
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B COST
R2016F4A1H At 1 April 2016 4,579,853 557,264 1,767,907 17,230,483 24,135,507
NE Additions 18,900 - 2,180 122,720 143,800
R2017%F3A31H At 31 March 2017 4,598,753 557,264 1,770,087 17,353,203 24,279,307
INE Additions 6,880 - - 578,076 584,956
3 Disposal - - = (2,800) (2,800)
R2018F3 A31H At 31 March 2018 4,605,633 557,264 1,770,087 17,928,479 24,861,463
e DEPRECIATION
R2016F4A1H At 1 April 2016 4,566,326 557,264 1,682,697 10,560,870 17,367,157
FERBEE Provided for the year 7,036 - 48,852 2,446,353 2,502,241
R2017%F3A31H At 31 March 2017 4,573,362 557,264 1,731,549 13,007,223 19,869,398
FERNEE Provided for the year 19,968 - 26,067 2,249,586 2,295,621
b Eliminated on disposal - - - (2,800) (2,800)
®2018463A31H At 31 March 2018 4,593,330 557,264 1,757,616 15,254,009 22,162,219
BREE NET BOOK VALUES
RK20184%3 A31H At 31 March 2018 12,303 - 12,471 2,674,470 2,699,244
R2017%€3A31H At 31 March 2017 25,391 - 38,538 4,345,980 4,409,909

WE - WS RREITENIREMAFHERFHINA
BEAORRA T FRMEAE KA

Depreciation is recognised to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates

per annum:

THEWMEEE 20% SR & F 5 Leasehold 20% or over the period of the lease
(PR ASE) improvements term if it is less than 5 years

B 30% Motor vehicles 30%

EINS &S 20% Furniture and fixtures  20%

B 20% £ 30% Equipment 20% to 30%
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9. Deposit Paid For Acquisition of

10.

1

12

Property, Plant and Equipment

On 15 March 2018, EAA entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to purchase an
office premise and car parking spaces at the consideration of
HK$70,000,000. As at 31 March 2018, EAA has paid deposit
of HK$7,000,000 in accordance with the sale and purchase
agreement, and other related cost of total HK$5,950,210.
The acquisition was completed on 12 April 2018.

Bank Balances and Cash and Time
Deposits

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by EAA and short-
term bank deposits with remaining tenure of 11 to 58 days
(2017: 11 to 59 days) at prevailing market interest rates
ranging from 0.01% to 1.10% per annum (2017: 0.01% to
0.96% per annum).

Time deposits comprise a short-term bank deposit with
remaining tenure of 159 days (2017: 138 to 159 days) at
prevailing market interest rate being 1.15% per annum (2017:
0.98% to 1.15% per annum).

EAA considers that the carrying amounts of these assets
approximate their fair values.

Deferred Income

Deferred income represents licence fees received from estate
agents for a validity period, which are deferred according to
EAA’s income recognition policy.

Licence Application Fees Received

These represent amounts paid by estate agents applying for
the licences which were still being processed but not yet
approved at the end of the reporting period.
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13. EXKIE

14

13. Capital Commitments

2018 2017
BT BT
HK$ HK$
TEEYE WeShEEZ Capital expenditure in respect of the
BEARFS (BRMFE9fEEt) :  acquisition of property, plant and
equipment, as stated in note 9:
— BRI XMBREM SRR EME — contracted but not provided for in the
financial statements 63,000,000 =

REEERE
REHR - BERRERETRY FHEE

BHE - RTIIHEZ KRR REREREALE
LIl

14. Operating Lease Commitments

At the end of the reporting period, EAA had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of rented premises which fall due
as follows:

2018 2017

BT BT

HK$ HK$

—F R Within one year 5,465,680 9,423,600
F_EERE (BIEEEMSE) In the second to fifth year inclusive = 5,465,680
5,465,680 14,889,280

A

CEMERADNEERMERETRERNZH

¢ AERBEFHS=F (017 =5)H
R -

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by EAA
for certain of its office premises. Leases are negotiated for
and rentals are fixed for an average term of three years (2017:
three years).
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15. EXRE s EE

EERMEATERKAHKI AR RIERN
Ejﬁ% - REANEEMBNEERREE RER
Bigg  DRAMERENERRTREEK

$ ° concern so that it can continue to promote integrity and

15. Capital Risk Management

EAA's capital comprises primarily the fund accumulated since
its establishment, and its objective when managing the capital
is to ensure that EAA will be able to continue as a going

competence of estate agents.

EEREHRA L EEEERRE - AHERE
ERBRARNESUMEEBEREAT R - BEE
RHELNBRETTHIREER - BHRHEA
BRNHBES  AFERFERRAIEBEKAM

NERFIA °

EAA regularly reviews and manages its capital to ensure
adequacy for both the operational and capital needs. EAA
operates a zero distribution policy with regard to surpluses
generated. Surpluses are transferred to the capital project
fund for the possible acquisition of permanent office
accommodation in future.

iméﬁiiti/,ﬂﬁkﬁ%%ﬂﬂéﬁﬁﬂ/\ cEER
EHRAIENERENT R - UERZETE

EIBEK o

16. €M I A

EAA charges annual licence fees on the estate agents. EAA
regularly reviews the need to increase licence fees to ensure
operational needs are fully covered.

16. Financial Instruments

a. BT AR a. Categories of financial instruments
2018 2017
BT BT
HK$ HK$
ERMEE ! Financial assets:
ER &R GRIE Loans and receivables
Hih el =X Sundry receivables 1,193,493 1,157,784
BfEE Deposit paid 2,132,268 2,129,682
EHFR - RITEHREE S Time deposits, bank balances and cash 233,179,990 235,157,452
236,505,751 238,444,918
SHEE: Financial liabilities:
B GHR AR Amortised costs
FESBRERR Creditors 8,785,617 10,394,592
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16. £ T B () 16. Financial Instruments (Continued)

b.

CRIEREEBERBX

EERZIEcRm I ABERKER

b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies
EAA’s major financial instruments include debtors, time

THFER RITER HEREMNE deposits, bank balances and cash and creditors. Details
e ZELRmTAFBRSENER of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective

E«? o ZESR T A Z*EFEJ—L ’@%?ﬁi% notes. The risks associated with these financial
e (BEMNERRE)  EFERRETE instruments include market risk (including interest rate
éﬁﬂ @ o ZZDH,)F&E%E%ZN—L E’][Eﬁ( g &l risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to

EATXD EEEEEE&QF*IW(—J- A’
DAREAR A] N b5 K2 78 20t B ffe 3 & 46 e ©

mitigate these risks are set out below. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure that
appropriate measures are implemented in timely and
effective manner.

™5 Ak Market risk
B neFE R Cash flow interest rate risk
EEREFEEREENXEYNTE EAA is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk through

ﬁﬁ@i‘-ﬁﬁimbgﬁjtﬂ 2R © n‘l’ o irﬁﬂﬁ
EFXrERIRTHE  2BRAME - R

the impact of rate changes on interest bearing financial
assets. Interest bearing financial assets are mainly

It RREMFEZEE B IS HEER balances with banks which are all short term in nature.

L EBEREANTE o Therefore, any future variation in interest rates will not
have a significant impact on the results of EAA.

EERE Credit risk

EERBREXZIHF T RERITEHOER Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will

EMaIREEREXUBIER R - default on its contractual obligations resulting in

EERERBEEELERAYTFMEY
ZIEERR -

RTBEREEERR EERNEM
AE B RKRIE Z T @& R TR
A ARERE AW E SRS T E R

financial loss to EAA. EAA’'s exposure of its
counterparties are continuously monitored, received
and approved.

In order to minimise the credit risk, EAA reviews the
recoverable amount of the receivables at the end of
each reporting period to ensure that adequate

BEEX -FUEME  EERREEREE impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

B[ B KR o In this regard, EAA considers that EAA’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

FEHERERBES ZEERBTAK The credit risk on time deposits and liquid funds is

RRARRZEHFAERIFEEZIRIT limited because the counterparties are banks with good

reputation.

WEREBEER ¢ 2017 /18 F3}
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16. €@ T A (%)

16. Financial Instruments (Continued)

b. £REMREEEERBEE®) b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)
RBESER Liquidity risk
EEREEBYRDESRAREARK Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management
ERER BRECHREERZEH - F rests with management of EAA, which has built an
HERBAE SR ASHESERETENY appropriate liquidity risk management framework for
HEZRBDESRRERIER - EER the management of EAA’s short, medium and long-
ERESBEREMNFEEANFTEER term funding and liquidity management requirements.
EARERRERE  UEEBRBES Management of EAA manages liquidity risk by
[=\Bg o maintaining adequate reserves and continuously
monitors the forecast and actual cash flows.
TRIVNEERIFETESTREBZHT The following table details EAA’s remaining contractual
SBXRNEH - ZKRTIIBEES B iRE maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities on the
KX MEREBEZZEAHES KX agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn up
MemBECRURBESRE ° based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which EAA can
be required to pay.
¥ AEREE
BRAR 0ZE30K 31Z260X RERE fREE
Weighted
average Total
effective 0-30 31-60 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate days days cash flows amount
% B BT BT BT
% HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
2018 F 2018
FEfHERAR Creditors - 8,222,017 563,600 8,785,617 8,785,617
2017 5 2017
JERTBRR Creditors - 9,991,885 402,707 10,394,592 10,394,592
¢ 7A¥EE c. Fair values

TREERTMABCATEER  ZH
RReRENTERERMNZEERAE
ﬁ?_ o

EERRA  RUBHRRIZBHKAA
EnemEErERAB REERR
NHEEBEL -
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The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

EAA considers that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
in the financial statements approximate their
corresponding fair values.
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